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Private Bank

OUR MISSION

Our purpose is to help clients meet their financial objectives.
Our goal is to be the best in what we do as individuals and as a firm.
Our ideas should be innovative yet appropriate for our clients’ needs. 
Our execution shall be seamless.
Our service should be par excellence.

Our integrity will not be compromised.

We are BDO Private Bank.



OUR PHILOSOPHY

We seek to preserve and enhance the value of our clients’ assets by achieving 
returns that outpace predefined market benchmarks.

We encourage diversification among asset classes and individual securities to 
mitigate price/market volatility. With these, we seek to grow and protect our 
clients’ wealth for the enjoyment of their successors and their heirs.

We customize investment strategies to address each client’s unique 
circumstances, as well as specific preferences for income, liquidity and risk.

Where appropriate, we pursue cross-border investment opportunities to 
enhance returns and provide additional diversification.



OUR COMMITMENT

To Clients:
• Deliver high value products and quality service
• Offer innovative solutions to  specific needs
• Provide timely advice and  investment/market formation

To Shareholders:
• Maximize return on investment
• Manage our business with the  highest professional, ethical and moral standards
•  Pursue opportunities that improve  shareholder value

To Associates:
• Create a responsive environment  that promotes teamwork
• Recognize individual worth and contribution
• Maintain and enhance the intellectual capital of our associates through rigorous  
 and relevant  training and education

Our commitment to provide the best financial service to our clients requires us to 
be prudent in our design of financial solutions. We undertake to render proper due 
diligence, objective valuation and full disclosure of material information. Through 
this process, we apply global standards in creating active markets for instruments we 
sponsor and offer to our clients.

Our product offerings are based on an open product architecture model, where 
clients are offered the best available products regardless of provider, an approach 
geared towards delivering the highest possible returns to each of our client groups.

In all these we anchor our commitment on a solid base, a sound balance sheet and a 
strong team of professionals.



Teresita T. Sy
Chairperson

“...we are confident 
that we are well-

positioned to 
continuously serve 

the needs of the 
market we serve. “

BDO Private Bank continued its strong growth in 
2009, and I am happy to announce that the Bank’s 
Assets Under Management has grown by P33 billion 
by the end of the year or an increase of 45% to P103 
billion. 
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRPERSON

Our distinct focus on private banking and wealth 
management has made it possible for our select clientele 
to protect and grow their wealth through various services 
like investment advisory and management, structured trusts 
and, estate planning and advisory. 

Our highly seasoned and professional advisory 
team, using our unique Open Architecture 
Framework, has assisted our clients to access best-
of-breed investment products from global experts 
thereby expanding the horizon of investment 
options that will address their specific needs. 

Given our strong management team and our focus 
on high net worth individuals, we are confident 
that we are well-positioned to continuously serve 
the needs of the market we serve. We appreciate 
the support of our management team, as well as 
the guidance of our board members and advisers. 
Most of all, we thank our clients and shareholders 
for their continued trust in us. 
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“...the Bank is poised 
for continued 

growth that remains 
centered on 

ensuring its clients’ 
secure future.” 

Josefina N. Tan
President

The Philippine economy narrowly escaped recession as the 
global economy skidded to its worst recession in nearly three 
decades.  Fortunately, the timely, determined and coordinated 
intervention by central banks from both developed and 
emerging economies through massive fiscal stimulus spending 
and accommodative monetary policies restored investors’ 
confidence and averted the near-collapse of the global financial 
system.  Philippine real GDP posted a modest 0.8% growth but 
comparatively better than the recessions experienced by some 
of its Asian neighbors. 
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By year-end, BDO Private Bank’s Assets Under 
Management (AUM) grew 45 percent while its 
customer base expanded by 16%. Total capital 
reached P3.8 billion, after a cash dividend pay-
out amounting to P300 million.
 
Total revenues, meanwhile, rose 87% on strong 
returns of all three main revenue sources – 
interest income, trading, and fee-based income.  
Net interest income (NII) expanded 87% 
mainly due to the increase in earning asset 
volume and better spreads. Trading income, 
which soared 188%, benefited from the 
prevailing bond market volatility which created 
better fixed-income trading opportunities.  Fee 
income on the other hand surged 62% due to 
the significant growth in trust fees. 

With well-managed operating expenses, taxes 
and lower intermediation costs, operating 
efficiency improved to 43.6%. BDO Private 
Bank booked a net income of P425 million, 
more than three times its 2008 bottom-line 
figure. 

BDO Private Bank’s provides Bespoke wealth 
management solutions anchored in an Open 
Architecture platform to a select clientele.  This 
unique value proposition has allowed the Bank 
to address clients’ needs to create purpose-
driven savings vehicles for specific needs such as 
education, retirement, health and philanthropy.  
Through customized trust arrangements, 
the Bank has created for clients vehicles to 
consolidate and inventory their wealth, provide 
protection and growth, and efficiently distribute 
wealth during or after their lifetime.

BDO Private Bank’s unmatched efforts and 
innovative approach in growing its wealth 
management business has consistently gained 
recognition for the Bank over the years. In 2009, 
BDO Private Bank was once again honored with 
citations from Alpha Southeast Asia, Finance 
Asia, The Asset and Euromoney. We wish 
to thank these distinguished institutions for 
recognizing our achievements and for giving us 
more reason to excel in our field of business.   

As we look forward to better prospects for the 
Philippine economy in 2010, we expect our 
Private Bank to benefit from a reinvigorated 
market environment. Primed to take full 
advantage of recovery-induced business 
opportunities, the Bank is poised for continued 
growth that remains centered on ensuring its 
clients’ secure future.  

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

As the Philippine economy strained 
to break away from constrictive 
influences in 2009, BDO Private Bank 
tirelessly searched the market for 
opportunities to grow its wealth 
management business.
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BDO PRIVATE BANK: OUR STORY

THE PRIVATE BANK

Whatever your profession or vocation is, at 
whichever stage of life you are at, the question 
of where to invest your hard earned money is of 
paramount concern.  

Making important decisions to secure your 
future or that of your loved ones requires serious 
thinking and assistance from a trusted financial 
advisor.  In a Private Bank, the Financial or 
Wealth Advisor assists you in determining your 
needs and investment objectives, your risk 
appetite and aligning these with your life goals. 
Further, the choice of a reliable, trustworthy 
institution with proven expertise and track record 
in the wealth management business is crucial to 
making assets grow while ensuring utmost privacy 
and protection.

FINDING A NUGGET, CARVING A NICHE

At a time when the Philippine high net worth 
(HNW) and modern affluent markets have 
become accustomed to elite or priority banking 
services, BDO Universal Bank saw the niche to 
create a true private bank for the Philippines.  In 
2003, with the acquisition of the local banking 
unit of Banco Santander in the Philippines, BDO 
entered in the private banking market with the 
birth of BDO Private Bank.

It is evident that domestic and foreign banks are 
cognizant of the significance of the Philippine 
high net worth and modern affluent markets.  
Consisting of businesspersons, entrepreneurs, 
business executives, professionals and retirees, 
the HNW and modern affluent market segments 
require specialized services appropriate for their 
needs.  But no bank, then, much more a local 
one, existed solely focusing on the needs of these 

markets.  Seeing the gap as a golden nugget 
of opportunity, BDO Private Bank directed 
its business focus to servicing the needs and 
requirements of a growing domestic private 
banking market.

Today, BDO Private Bank is the only domestic 
bank in the country providing expert and 
professional private banking services. A fully 
owned subsidiary of BDO Universal Bank, the 
largest universal bank in the country today, BDO 
Private Bank, using its commercial banking, 
derivatives, and trust / fiduciary services licenses, 
is solely focused on providing comprehensive 
wealth management services to the Philippine 
HNW and modern affluent markets.

USING STRENGTHS, BREAKING BARRIERS

BDO Private Bank is now the domestic Private 
Bank of choice.  Filipino private banking clients 
used to think that private banking products and 
services can be accessed only through a foreign 
bank, their perceptions have changed. They have 
since gravitated towards BDO Private Bank, a 
domestic-grounded institution which has the 
expertise and formidable financial strength to 
advise, plan, assist in the execution, manage their 
domestic assets as well as provide the capability to 
consolidate and manage their foreign assets. 

Being a local bank, BDO Private Bank best 
understands clients needs and the intricacies 
of doing business in the Philippines. It delivers 
world class services and solutions at par with its 
foreign counterparts.  It is easily accessible, with 
additional marketing lounges in strategic areas 
manned by relationship managers and wealth 
advisors, readily available to meet and discuss 
with clients their account status, market updates, 
or any concerns they may have.  

“Making important decisions to secure your future or 
that of your loved ones requires serious thinking and 
assistance from a trusted financial advisor.”
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Other than being a domestic-based bank and 
supported by the financial muscle of its parent 
bank BDO, the Private Bank also attributes its 
success to the indisputable fact that its open 
architecture approach has given it sufficient 
room for achieving results that match client 
expectations. The open architecture platform 
has allowed the Bank to access products from 
third-party partners and even work with partner 
institutions in crafting customized investments to 
deliver results clients require. It allows the Bank to 
provide its clients with the best breed of local and 
global products and services, giving them freedom 
to choose from a wide array of appropriate 
products and services. 

DEFINING A MARKET, IDENTIFYING
 CLIENTS’ NEEDS

The Philippines is ready for Private Banking 
Services, and BDO Private Bank has been at the 
helm of educating qualified clients on what true 
private banking is and how they can expand their 
investment options both in terms of products 
(moving out from savings, equities, government 
securities into funds, high-grade or high-yield 
corporate notes and structured products), and 
services (traditional retail banking to financial 
planning, education, retirement and estate 
planning).

The changing investment climate has made 
traditional modes of savings lacking in terms 
of the safety and yield it has promised.  Clients 
now want more control over the selection and 
administration of pockets of savings intended for 
their children’s education, for their retirement and 
continued welfare of the family, or just simply 
putting up a fund to buy a new home or finally 

take the dream vacation they have promised 
the family.  Whatever purpose clients have for 
setting aside and growing pots of monies, BDO 
Private Bank’s trusted financial and wealth advisor 
will help them navigate through the universe 
of investment options by first asking the basic 
questions.  The questions come first to ensure that 
execution of clients investment or financial plan is 
appropriate for their goals.

CRAFTING A MENU, BUILDING DEEP CLIENT 
RELATIONSHIPS

Our relationship with each client is holistic - not 
just the investible funds - as the breadth and 
depth of services that will eventually be offered 
will depend on their current and future needs.  
BDO Private Bank’s relationship managers and 
wealth advisors work closely with clients in 
creating an investment, financial or estate plan, 
putting together products and services that 
suit their specific needs and goals. Initially, the 
engagement may be as simple as just consolidating 
financial and non-financial assets, creating savings 
for education, retirement and pension, or it can 
be as extensive as helping clients manage their 
estate affairs in an efficient manner.

While the Private Bank crafts and customizes 
a menu appropriate for each client, the choice 
is ultimately in the hands of the client. Our  
principal task is to understand clients’ needs, 
their future life plans - for themselves and their 
family, and to guide clients in making the optimal 
decisions to meet their goals.  We also ensure 
the proper execution, recording and reporting 
of our clients’ wealth in order to provide a single 
repository of information to assist them in 
managing their estate.  

“BDO Private Bank directed its business focus to 
servicing the needs and requirements of a growing 
domestic private banking market.”
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BDO PRIVATE BANK: OUR STORY

We value each client relationship, we value their 
trust and confidence in the Private Bank as a 
trusted advisor, a confidant, a consolidator, an 
administrator; serving not just their family now 
but more importantly providing continuity for 
the succeeding generations. 

BESPOKE PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

Each relationship BDO Private Bank enters 
into is unique.  Each client’s needs are unique; 
their investment requirements, their life goals 
and aspirations, their passions and aversions, 
their medium and long term objectives, the 
milestones they have defined in their life, and 
who will benefit from their life’s work.  Each 
client’s investment or estate plan is crafted solely 
according to their particular circumstances and 
objectives.  

Relationship Managers and Wealth Advisors 
continually listen and touch-base with clients.  
These meetings provide important insights for 
the Private Bank’s evaluation of its strategies and 
ensure that these strategies are consistent with 
their objectives and goals.

  ORGANIC GROWTH

BDO Private Bank’s growth since it ventured into 
Wealth Management and Wealth Advisory in 
2003 has been very heartening and rewarding for 
both the Bank and its clients. 

The Bank’s Assets Under Management has grown 
substantially from PhP7 billion in 2003 to 
Php103 billion as of year-end 2009. The Bank’s 
client base have likewise increased significantly 
through the years. These figures are better 
appreciated when viewed against a backdrop of 
declining economic environment, the most recent 
of which was the prolonged financial crisis that 
engulfed countries around the world including the 
Philippines.

The Bank’s phenomenal growth even when times 
are uncertain is an indication that the Bank is 
traversing the right path in Wealth Management 
and Wealth Advisory. It is a positive reflection of 
the Bank’s capabilities and expertise as it stands 
firmly committed to delivering high quality 
bespoke products and services its clients highly 
deserve. It is a testament to the Bank’s unique 
business model and focus on its niche market; and 
it is an affirmation of the clients’ continued trust 
and confidence in BDO Private Bank for which it 
is truly grateful.

EARNING ACCOLADES

There is no better recognition of the Private 
Bank’s expertise and reliability as a world-class 
provider of wealth management products and 
services than the continuing trust and confidence 
accorded by its growing number of clients. By 
giving BDO Private Bank the privilege to serve 
them, these clients have also given the Bank the 
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“While the Private Bank crafts and customizes a menu 
appropriate for each client, the choice is ultimately 
in the hands of the client. Our  principal task is to 
understand clients’ needs, their future life plans - for 
themselves and their family, and to guide clients in 
making the optimal decisions to meet their goals.”



BDO PRIVATE BANK: OUR STORY

opportunity to gain recognition for its efforts 
from distinguished institutions here and abroad. 
Thus, the Bank has consistently earned citations 
for its achievements as wealth manager/ advisor 
from Alpha Southeast as the Best Private Wealth 
Management House in the Philippines (2009 
and 2008), from Finance Asia as Best Private 
Bank in the Philippines (2009 and 2008), from 
Euromoney as Best Local Private Bank in the 
Philippines in 2009, and from The Asset Triple A 
Asian Award as Best Private Wealth Management 
House in the Philippines for 2009. 

BDO Private Bank has come a long way since 
2003. It found a nugget of opportunity, took 
advantage of it and molded it into a very 
viable, growing business niche for itself. Using 
its formidable strengths and its unique Open 
Architecture philosophy, the Private Bank changed 
clients’ perceptions of what a local bank can do in 
the Wealth Management business and it opened 
the world through partnerships with respectable 
global institutions. With its wide array of bespoke 
products and services, and its strong focus on 
client relationships, it earned the loyalty, the trust 
and confidence of its clients such that it ably 
grew its business regardless of what the economic 
climate was, earning several accolades in the 
process.

OUR CONTINUING COMMITMENT TO 
EXCELLENCE

As we look at the challenges we have successfully 
surpassed in the past, the results of the singular 
business focus of providing Bespoke private 
banking services to our select clientele, the 
recognition we have received from our clients and 
our peers, our task has just begun.  
We commit to continue to strive Excellence.  
We commit to our stakeholders to always 
be the Domestic Private Bank of choice by 
continuing to add more value to our private 
banking relationships. To our Board, we commit 
to a professional and focused management 
team responsive to the ever changing business 
environment and client needs, and to our peers, 
we commit to a higher level of professionalism 
based on trust, integrity, privacy, expertise and 
transparency.

And to our clients, we commit to deliver a truly 
private banking platform that will address your 
specific needs, creating wealth to secure the future 
for yourself and your loved ones.  Together, we 
start building today.  For in the future, we stand 
by you and for you, to ensure that your dreams 
and aspirations are realized for those whom you 
love and cherish.
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“The Bank’s phenomenal growth even when times are 
uncertain is an indication that the Bank is traversing 
the right path in Wealth Management and Wealth 
Advisory. It is a positive reflection of the Bank’s 
capabilities and expertise as it stands firmly committed 
to delivering high quality bespoke products and 
services its clients highly deserve.”



Teresita T. Sy
Chairperson

Nestor V. Tan
Vice Chairman

Johnip G. Cua
Director

Josefina N. Tan
Director & President

Nicasio I. Alcantara
Director

Gregory L. Domingo
Director

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Ian Fish
Adviser

Pedro O. Roxas
Director

Alfonso A. Uygongco
Director

Elizabeth T. Sy
Director

Harley T. Sy
Adviser

Roderico V. Puno
Corporate Secretary

Violeta O. LuYm
Director
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Accountability and transparency are of prime importance 
to BDO Private Bank (the “Bank”) and focus on these 
was achieved while maintaining operational efficiency.  A 
disciplined approach and management commitment are 
built into the infrastructure and work of the Bank’s various 
working committees and operating business lines.  

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
Chairman: Teresita T. Sy
Members: Nestor V. Tan, Josefina N. Tan, Elizabeth T. Sy

The Executive Committee is created under the Bank’s By-
Laws and authorized by resolution to act on behalf of the 
Board of Directors in-between board meetings on urgent 
matters referred by Management pertaining to anti-money 
laundering, compliance, bank signatories, manuals, policies 
or procedures, and other matters of an urgent nature where 
action or inaction may result in loss, including opportunity 
loss, injury, liability, damage, or prejudice to the Bank.  The 
Executive Committee is composed of directors and meets as 
necessary to pass upon matters referred to it.  

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Chairman: Pedro E.O. Roxas
Members: Gregory L. Domingo, Johnip Go Cua
Adviser: Shirley M. Sangalang

The Audit Committee acts on behalf of the Board to 
provide oversight of the Bank’s financial reporting and 
control as well as internal and external audit functions.  
It reviews and assesses the Bank’s annual audit plan, its 
system of internal controls, and regular financial and audit 
reports.  The internal auditor and the independent external 
auditor report to the Committee.  The Audit Committee is 
composed of members of the Board, at least two of whom 
are independent directors, including the Chairman, with 
accounting, auditing or related financial management 
expertise or experience, and meets at least once quarterly. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
Chairman: Johnip Go Cua
Members: Pedro E.O. Roxas, Violeta O. LuYm

The Corporate Governance Committee assists the Board 
of Directors in shaping the Bank’s corporate governance 
policies and practices, recommends applicable guidelines, 
and monitors compliance with said policies and practices.  
The Committee also oversees the annual performance self-
evaluation of the Board.  Where needed, it recommends 
measures for the directors’ continuing education and 
succession plan.  It also exercises oversight over the Bank’s 
compliance function.  The Committee is composed of 
at least three members of the Board, two of whom are 
independent directors, and meets as needed to perform its 
duties but no less than once a year. 

CREDIT COMMITTEE
Chairman: Teresita T. Sy
Members: Nestor V. Tan, Josefina N. Tan, 
 Gregory L. Domingo

The Credit Committee is responsible for the review and 
approval of the Bank’s loans and investments as well as 
credit-related issues.  It assesses the viability of credit and 
investment proposals (except those involving DOSRI 
or related party accounts), with specific attention to the 
appropriateness of the credit extension and risks involved.  
The Credit Committee meets at least twice weekly, and is 
composed of at least three members of the Board including 
the President and such members of senior management 
appointed/designated by the Board.  

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
Chairman: Nestor V. Tan
Members: Josefina N. Tan, Gregory L. Domingo,          
 Bienvenido M. Juat, Jr.
                  
The Risk Management Committee is responsible for the 
Bank’s risk management program, which includes policy 
development and oversight over the Bank’s credit, market, 
liquidity, and operations risk exposures.  It oversees the 
system of limits of discretionary authority that the Board 
delegates to management, ensuring that these are observed 
and any breaches are immediately corrected.  

It establishes the framework for reporting risk to the Board 
including the assessment on the probability and potential 
impact of each identified risk exposure of the Bank.  The 
Risk Management Committee is composed of at least 
three Directors who possess a range of expertise as well as 
adequate knowledge of the Bank’s risk exposures, and meets 
at least once a month or as may be required to perform its 
duties and responsibilities.  

TRUST COMMITTEE
Chairman: Nestor V. Tan
Members:  Josefina N. Tan, Elizabeth T. Sy, 
 Gregory L. Domingo, 
 Gamalielh A.O. Benavides

The Trust Committee is created under the Bank’s By-
Laws and is responsible for administering the Bank’s Trust 
Department and, in the interim between meetings of the 
Board of Directors, possesses and exercises all the powers of 
the Board of Directors in the administration, management 
and direction of the trust and fiduciary business of the 
Bank.  The Trust Committee is composed of the President, 
the Trust Officer, three directors who are not operating 
officers of the Bank or members of the Audit Committee, 
and meets at least once in every calendar quarter.  

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Securities and Exchange Commission
SEC Building
EDSA, Greenhills
Mandaluyong City

The management of BDO Private Bank, Inc. (the Bank) is responsible for all information  and representations contained 
in the financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008. The financial statements have been prepared 
in conformity with Philippines Financial Reporting Standards and reflect amounts that are based in the best estimates and 
informed judgment of management with an appropriate consideration to materiality.

In this regard, management maintains a system of accounting and reporting which provides for the necessary internal 
controls to ensure that transactions re properly authorized and recorded, assets are safeguarded against unauthorized used or 
disposition and liabilities are recognized. 

The board of directors review the financial statements before such statements are approved and submitted to the stockholders 
of the Bank. 

Punongbayan & Araullo, the independent auditors appointed by the board of directors and stockholders, have audited the fi-
nancial statements of the Bank as of and for the year ended December 31, 2009 in accordance with Philippines Standards on 
Auditing  and have express their opinion on the fairness of presentation upon completion of such examination, in its report 
to the stock holders and the board of directors. 

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Teresita T. Sy
Chairman of the Board

Josefina N. Tan
President

Agnes B. Santos
FVP / Head - Financial Control  
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The Board of Directors
BDO Private Bank, Inc.
(A Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of
Banco de Oro Unibank, Inc.)
27th Floor, Tower One, Ayala Triangle
Ayala Avenue, Makati City

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of BDO Private Bank, Inc., which comprise the statements of financial position 
as at December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years 
then ended, and notes to financial statements comprising of a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with the financial report-
ing standards in the Philippines for banks as described in Note 2 to the financial statements. This responsibility includes: designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting 
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with 
Philippine Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply we ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risk of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in other to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of BDO Private Bank, Inc., as of 
December 31, 2009 and 2008, and its financial performance and its  cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with the financial 
reporting standards in the Philippines for banks as described in Note 2 to the financial statements.

PUNONGBAYAN & ARAULLO

 By:  Benjamin P. Valdez
  Partner
  CPA Reg. No. 0028485
  TIN 136-619-880
  PTR No. 208602, January 4, 2010 Makati City
  Partner’s SEC Accreditation No. 009-AR-2
  BIR AN 08-002511-11-2008 (Nov. 25, 2008 to 2011)

  Firm BOA/PRC Cert. of Reg. No. 0002
  Firm SEC Accreditation No. 0002-FR-2

 March 1, 2010

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
December 31, 2009 And 2008

Notes 2009 2008

RESOURCES

DUE FROM BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS 4 P 1,690,101,529 P 2,728,883,901

DUE FROM OTHER BANKS 4 1,753,149,328 1,962,188,243
  

TRADING AND INVESTMENT SECURITIES
   Fair value through profit or loss 5 5,603,954,248 13,690,340,371
   Available-for-sale 6 3,700,738,428 2,370,597,319
   Held-to-maturity 7 8,688,992,308 8,804,014,579

LOANS AND RECEIVABLES (NET) 8 7,868,597,265 6,973,940,158

BANK PREMISES, FURNITURE, FIXTURES 
   AND EQUIPMENT - Net 9 32,488,895 43,683,635

OTHER RESOURCES - Net 10 85,087,336 54,990,623

TOTAL RESOURCES P 29,423,109,337 P 36,628,638,829

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

DEPOSIT LIABILITIES 11
   Demand P 8,821,492,708 P 13,649,586,162
   Time 11,223,686,345 12,862,006,578

   Total Deposit Liabilities 20,045,179,053 26,511,592,740

BILLS PAYABLE 12 4,000,897,192 5,564,787,566

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 13 1,392,870,263 1,101,071,701

ACCRUED TAXES AND OTHER LIABILITIES 14 159,427,142 137,530,050

   Total Liabilities 25,598,373,650 33,314,982,057

EQUITY 15 3,824,735,687 3,313,656,772

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY P 29,423,109,337 P 36,628,638,829
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STATEMENTS OF INCOME
For The Years Ended December 31, 2009 And 2008

Notes 2009 2008

INTEREST INCOME ON
   Held-to-maturity investments 7 P 538,031,442  P 437,303,914  
   Loans and other receivables 8 533,595,442  153,264,797
   Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5 215,509,834  311,197,599  
   Available-for-sale securities 6 189,216,311  548,017,461  
   Due from other banks 4 51,558,140  113,211,277  

1,527,911,169  1,562,995,048  

INTEREST EXPENSE ON
   Deposit liabilities 11 690,351,425 755,149,629  
   Bills payable 12 169,425,611 363,979,483  

859,777,036 1,119,129,112  

NET INTEREST INCOME 668,134,133 443,865,936  

IMPAIRMENT LOSS 6, 8 207,223,155 83,500,000  

NET INTEREST INCOME AFTER IMPAIRMENT LOSS 460,910,978 360,365,936  

OTHER INCOME
   Trading and securities gain - net 5, 7, 13 275,850,074  9,075,093  
   Foreign exchange gain - net 6, 13 239,450,707  169,781,137  
   Service charges, fees and commissions 16 138,682,796  84,516,166  
   Others 6 1,104,179  1,214,687  

655,087,756  264,587,083  
OTHER EXPENSES
   Employee benefits 19      185,548,648       140,939,180  
   Taxes and licenses      139,756,141       113,329,699  
   Insurance      39,499,085       26,956,814  
   Management and professional fees      30,699,901       15,776,320  
   Occupancy 22      30,285,036       27,482,019  
   Representation and entertainment      29,741,766       16,610,617  
   Travel      25,451,512       24,253,833  
   Third party information 17      19,707,738       12,366,132  
   Depreciation and amortization 9, 10      17,839,820       18,905,722  
   Others 18      87,209,226       54,669,388  

     605,738,873       451,289,724  

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 510,259,861  173,663,295  

TAX EXPENSE 20 85,722,366  71,804,924  

NET PROFIT P 424,537,495 P 101,858,371
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STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For The Years Ended December 31, 2009 And 2008

Notes 2009 2008

NET PROFIT P 424,537,495 P 101,858,371

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
   Unrealized fair value gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities 6 237,671,203 ( 444,377,846)
   Transfer of unrealized fair value losses to statements of income for 
      the impairment loss on available-for-sale securities 6 142,543,155 83,500,000
   Transfer of unrealized fair value losses to statements of income for 
      the impairment losses on available-for-sale securities previously
      reclassified to loans and receivable - net 8 7,284,388 ( 123,407)

387,498,746  ( 361,001,253)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) P 812,036,241 (P 259,142,882 )
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
 For The Years Ended December 31, 2009 And 2008

Notes 2009 2008

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
   Profit before tax P 510,259,861  P 173,663,295
   Adjustments for:
      Interest income ( 1,527,911,169) ( 1,562,995,048)
      Interest received 1,244,853,302  1,481,809,979
      Interest expense 859,777,036 1,119,129,112
      Interest paid ( 926,501,950) ( 708,890,315)
      Impairment losses 6 207,223,155 83,500,000
      Fair value losses 93,482,453 367,862,447
      Depreciation and amortization 9, 10 20,551,446 18,905,722
   Operating income before changes in resources and liabilities 481,734,134 972,985,192
      Decrease (increase) in available-for-sale securities ( 1,071,129,765) 2,795,768,219
      Increase in loans and receivables ( 898,854,333) ( 5,547,395,077)
       Decrease (increase) in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 8,438,166,217 ( 6,527,326,750)
      Increase in other resources ( 30,591,601) ( 5,840,772)
      Increase (decrease) in deposit liabilities ( 6,333,469,827) 13,689,058,942
      Increase in accrued taxes and other liabilities 22,195,305  81,636,096
   Cash generated from operations 608,050,131 5,458,885,850  
   Cash paid for income taxes ( 87,471,050) ( 62,689,459)

   Net Cash From Operating Activities 520,579,081 5,396,196,391

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
   Decrease (increase) in held-to-maturity investments 7 96,000,239 ( 3,344,829,956)
   Acquisitions of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment 9 ( 6,645,080) ( 24,447,312)

   Net Cash From (Used in) Investing Activities ( 89,355,159) ( 3,369,277.268)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
   Decrease in bills payable ( 1,557,755,527) ( 2,169,258,833)
   Dividends paid 15 ( 300,000,000) -

   Net Cash Used in Financing Activities ( 1,857,755,527) ( 2,169,258,833)

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ( 1,247,821,287) 142,339,710

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR
   Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas 2,728,883,901 1,065,291,442
   Due from Other Banks 1,962,188,243 3,768,120,412

4,691,072,144 4,833,411,854

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 4
   Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas 1,690,101,529 2,728,883,901
   Due from Other Banks 1,753,149,328 1,962,188,243

P 3,443,250,857 P 4,691,072,144

Supplemental Information on Noncash Operating and Investing Activities

On August 29, 2008, the Bank reclassified available-for-sale securities with fair value amounting to P4.54 billion and P3.07 billion to 
loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments, respectively, relative to the Bank’s adoption of the amendments to PAS 39 and 
guidelines from BSP Circular No. 628 (see Notes 2 and 6).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

On December 22, 1995, the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) authorized BDO Private Bank, Inc. 
(the Bank) to operate as a commercial bank.  The Bank was incorporated in the Philippines to engage in 
banking activities, as well as to engage in and carry on the business of a trust company and to operate a 
foreign currency deposit unit.

The Bank is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Banco de Oro Unibank, Inc. (BDO Unibank), a listed bank 
incorporated and domiciled in the Philippines.  BDO Unibank is authorized to operate as an expanded 
commercial bank and to engage in trust and foreign currency deposit operations.

The Bank’s registered office, which is also its principal place of business, is located at the 27th Floor, 
Tower One, Ayala Triangle, Ayala Avenue, Makati City.  The registered office of BDO Unibank is at BDO 
Corporate Center, 7899 Makati Avenue, Makati City.

The financial statements of the Bank for the year ended December 31, 2009 (including the comparatives 
for the year ended December 31, 2008) were authorized for issue by the Bank’s Board of Directors (Board) 
on March 1, 2010.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these financial statements 
are summarized below.  The policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise 
stated.

2.1 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements

 (a) Statement of Compliance with Financial Reporting Standards in the Philippines for Banks 

   The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with the financial 
reporting standards in the Philippines (FRSP) for banks.  The Bank prepared its financial 
statements in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS), except 
for the reclassification of the embedded derivatives in credit-linked notes (CLNs) that are 
linked to Republic of the Philippines (ROP) bonds from fair value through profit or loss 
(FVTPL) to unquoted debt securities classified as loans (UDSCL), that are outstanding as of 
the effective date of reclassification, which is permitted by the BSP for prudential reporting, 
and by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) for financial reporting purposes.

   PFRSs are adopted by the Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC) from the 
pronouncements issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

   These financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases specified by 
FRSP for each type of asset, liability, income and expense.  These financial statements have 
been prepared on the historical basis, except for the revaluation of certain financial assets.  
The measurement bases are more fully described in the accounting policies that follow.  
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

 (b) Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards in the Philippines for Banks in 2008

   In 2008, the Monetary Board of the BSP approved the prudential reporting guidelines for 
banks governing the reclassification of investments in debt and equity securities between 
categories in accordance with the provisions of the October 2008 amendments to the 
Philippine Accounting Standard (PAS 39) and PFRS 7, and provided additional guidelines 
(under BSP Circular No. 628) which include among others the reclassification of CLNs and 
other similar instruments that are linked to ROP bonds: 

	 	 •	 out	of	the	HFT	into	AFS/held-to-maturity	(HTM)/UDSCL;	or,
	 	 •	 	from	AFS	to	UDSCL	or	HTM,	without	bifurcating	the	embedded	derivatives	from	the	

host instruments.

   Provided that these shall only apply for CLNs that are outstanding as of the effective date of 
reclassification, which shall not be on or later than November 15, 2008. 

   On February 2, 2009, the SEC approved the adoption of BSP Circular No. 628 as being 
compliant with generally accepted accounting principles for banks.

   The following reconciliations and explanatory notes thereto describe the differences on the 
2009 and 2008 statements of financial position under FRSP and PFRS: 

  (i) The reconciliations of the equity reported under FRSP to equity under PFRS follow.

Note 2009 2008

Equity under FRSP P 3,824,735,687 P 3,313,656,772

Net adjustment to equity in prior year ( 298,728,490) -

Mark-to-market gain (loss) on embedded derivatives 
   on CLNs reclassified to loans and receivables

6 388,919,988 ( 290,484,919)

Amortization of negative fair value embedded derivative
   on CLN reclassified to loans and receivables

( 9,804,184) ( 8,243,571)

80,387,314 ( 298,728,490)

Equity under PFRS P 3,905,123,001 P 3,014,928,282
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

   (ii)  Differences in the measurement of statement of financial position items are 
summarized below (in thousand pesos).

2009
Notes FRSP Difference PFRS

Changes in resources:
   Investment securities 5, 6, 7 P 17,993,685 P 31,332 P 18,025,017
   Loans and receivables 8 7,868,597 81,150 7,949,747

25,862,282 112,482 25,974,764

Changes in liabilities:
   Derivative financial liabilities 13 1,392,870 32,095 1,424,965

Net adjustments to equity P 3,824,736 P 80,387 P 3,905,123

2008
Notes FRSP Difference PFRS

Changes in resources:
   Investment securities 5, 6, 7 P 24,864,952 P - P 24,864,952
   Loans and receivables 8 6,973,940 ( 105,385) 6,868,555

31,838,892 ( 105,385) 31,733,507

Changes in liabilities:
   Derivative financial liabilities 13 1,101,072 404,114 1,505,186

Net adjustments to equity P 3,313,657 (P 298,729) P 3,014,928
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

  (iii)  Profit or loss reported under FRSP is reconciled to profit or loss under PFRS as follows 
(in thousand pesos):

2009
FRSP Difference PFRS

Interest income P 1,527,911 (P 9,804) P 1,518,107
Interest expense 859,777 - 859,777

Net interest income 668,134 ( 9,804) 658,330
Impairment losses 207,223 - 207,223

Net interest income after impairment losses 460,911 ( 9,804) 451,107
Other operating income 655,088 388,920 1,044,008
Other operating expenses ( 606,505) - ( 606,505)

Income before tax 509,494 379,116 888,610
Tax expense 84,956 - 84,956

Net income P 424,538 P 379,116 P 803,654

2008
FRSP Difference PFRS

Interest income P 1,562,995 (P 8,243) P 1,554,752
Interest expense 1,119,129 - 1,119,129

Net interest income 443,866 ( 8,243) 435,623
Impairment losses 83,500 - 83,500

Net interest income after impairment losses 360,366 ( 8,243) 352,123
Other operating income 264,587 ( 290,485) ( 25,898)
Other operating expenses ( 451,290) - ( 451,290)

Income (loss) before tax 173,663 ( 298,728) ( 125,065)
Tax expense 71,805 - 71,805

Net income (loss) P 101,858 (P 298,728) (P 196,870)

 (c) Functional and Presentation Currency

   These financial statements are presented in Philippine pesos, the Bank’s functional currency, 
and all values represent absolute amounts except when otherwise indicated 

  (see also Note 2.8).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

2.2 Adoption of New Interpretations, Revisions and Amendments to PFRS

 (a) Effective in 2009 that are Relevant to the Bank

   There are new and amended standards and Philippine Interpretations that are effective in 
2009.  The following amended standards and Philippine Interpretation are relevant to the 
Bank which the Bank applied in accordance with their transitional provisions.

PAS 1 (Revised 2007) : Presentation of Financial Statements
PAS 32 and PAS 1
   (Amendments) : Financial Instruments: Presentation and Presentation of 

Financial Statements – Puttable Financial Instruments and 
Obligations Arising on Liquidation

PFRS 7 (Amended) : Financial Instruments:  Disclosures – improving disclosures 
about financial instruments

Various Standards : 2008 Annual Improvements to PFRS

  Below is a discussion of the impact of these accounting standards. 

  (i)  PAS 1 (Revised 2007), Presentation of Financial Statements (effective from January 1, 
2009).  The amendment requires an entity to present all items of income and expense 
recognized in the period in a single statement of comprehensive income or in two 
statements: a separate statement of income and a statement of comprehensive income.  
The statement of income shall disclose income and expense recognized in profit or 
loss in the same way as the current version of PAS 1.  The statement of comprehensive 
income shall disclose profit or loss for the period, plus each component of income and 
expense recognized outside of profit or loss classified by nature (e.g., gains or losses on 
available-for-sale assets or translation differences related to foreign operations).  Changes 
in equity arising from transactions with owners are excluded from the statement of 
comprehensive income (e.g., dividends and capital increase).  An entity would also be 
required to include in its set of financial statements a statement showing its financial 
position (or balance sheet) at the beginning of the previous period when the entity 
retrospectively applies an accounting policy or makes a retrospective restatement.  The 
Bank’s adoption of PAS 1 (Revised 2007) did not result in any material adjustments in 
its financial statements.  With respect to the presentation of comprehensive income, the 
Bank elected to present two separate statements.

  (ii)  PAS 32 (Amendment), Financial Instruments: Presentation and PAS 1 (Amendment), 
Presentation of Financial Statements – Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations 
Arising on Liquidation (effective from January 1, 2009).  The amendments require 
certain financial instruments that represent a residual interest in the net assets of an 
entity, which would otherwise be classified as financial liabilities, to be classified as 
equity, if both the financial instrument and the capital structure of the issuing entity 
meet certain conditions.  As the Bank does not have any puttable financial instruments 
which represents residual interest in an entity’s net assets, the amendment does not have 
any impact in the 2009 financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

  (iii)  PFRS 7 (Amended), Financial Instruments:  Disclosures – Improving Disclosures about 
Financial Instruments.  The amendments require additional disclosures for financial 
instruments that are measured at fair value in the statements of financial position. 
These fair value measurements are categorized into a three-level fair value hierarchy 
(see Note 3.2), which reflects the extent to which they are based on observable market 
data. A separate quantitative maturity analysis must be presented for derivative financial 
liabilities that shows the remaining contractual maturities, where these are essential 
for an understanding of the timing of cash flows.  As allowed under the transitional 
provisions in the amendments, the Bank has not provided comparative information in 
respect of the new requirements.

  (iv)  2008 Annual Improvements to PFRS.  The FRSC has adopted the Improvements to 
International Financial Reporting Standards 2008.  These amendments became effective 
in the Philippines in annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009.  The 
Bank expects the amendments to the following standards to be relevant to the Bank’s 
accounting policies:  

	 •	 	PAS	1	(Amendment),	Presentation of Financial Statements.  The amendment clarifies 
that financial instruments classified as held for trading in accordance with PAS 39 
are not necessarily required to be presented as current assets or current liabilities.  
Instead, normal classification principles under PAS 1 should be applied.  As a 
financial institution, the Bank presents unclassified financial statements, hence, this 
amendment will have no impact in the Bank’s 2009 financial statements.

	 •	 	PAS	19	(Amendment),	Employee Benefits. The amendment includes the following: 

-  Clarification that a curtailment is considered to have occurred to the extent that 
benefit promises are affected by future salary increases and a reduction in the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation results in negative past service 
cost.

-  Change in the definition of return of plan assets to require the deduction of plan 
administration costs in the calculation of plan assets return only to the extent 
that such costs have been excluded from measurement of the defined benefit 
obligation.

-  Distinction between short-term and long-term employee benefits will be based 
on whether benefits are due to be settled within or after 12 months of employee 
service being rendered.

-  Removal of the reference to recognition in relation to contingent liabilities in order 
to be consistent with PAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets, which requires contingent liabilities to be disclosed and not recognized.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

    The Bank’s management assessed that this amendment to PAS 19 will have no impact 
on its 2009 financial statements.

	 	 	 •	 	PAS	 39	 (Amendment),	 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The 
definition of financial asset or financial liability at fair value through profit or loss as 
it relates to item that are held for trading was changed.  A financial asset or liability 
that is part of a portfolio of financial instruments managed together with evidence of 
an actual recent pattern of short-term profit taking is included in such a portfolio on 
initial recognition.  The Bank initially determined that adoption of this amendment 
will not have a material effect on its 2009 financial statements.

    Minor amendments are made to several other standards; however, those amendments 
are not expected to have a material impact on the Bank’s financial statements.

 (b) Effective Subsequent to 2009 that are Relevant to the Bank

 There are new and amended standards and Philippine Interpretation that are effective for 
periods subsequent to 2009.  The following new standards are relevant to the Bank which 
the Bank will apply in accordance with their transitional provisions.

PAS 7 (Amendment) : Statement of Cash Flows
PAS 17 (Amendment) : Leases
PAS 39 (Amendment) : Financial instruments: Recognition and

Measurement – Eligible Hedged Items

Below is a discussion of the possible impact of these accounting standards: 

(i)  PAS 7 (Amendment), Statement of Cash Flows.  PAS 7 amendment states explicitly that 
only an expenditure that results in a recognized asset can be classified as a cash flow 
from investing activities.  The amendment will not result to material impact in the 
financial statements since only recognized asset are classified by the Bank as cash flow 
from investing activities. 

(ii)  PAS 17 (Amendment), Leases.  The amendment clarifies that when a lease includes 
both land and building elements, an entity assesses the classification of each element 
as finance or an operating lease separately in accordance with the general guidance on 
lease classification set out in paragraphs 7 to 13 of PAS 17.   Management has initially 
determined that this will not have material impact since the Bank does not enter into 
a lease agreement in the capacity of the lessor or lessee that includes both land and 
building.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

(iii)  Amendment to PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement - Eligible 
Hedged Items (effective from July 1, 2009) The amendment addresses only the designation 
of a one-sided risk in a hedged item, and the designation of inflation as a hedged risk 
or portion in particular situations.  The amendment clarifies that an entity is permitted 
to designate a portion of the fair value changes or cash flow variability of a financial 
instrument as a hedged item. 

2.3 Financial Instruments

2.3.1 Financial Assets

 Financial assets include cash and other financial instruments.  Financial assets, other than 
hedging instruments, are classified into the following categories: financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-
sale financial assets.  Financial assets are assigned to the different categories by management 
on initial recognition, depending on the purpose for which the investments were acquired.  
The designation of financial assets is re-evaluated at end of each reporting period at which 
date a choice of classification or accounting treatment is available, subject to compliance with 
specific provisions of applicable accounting standards.

Cash and cash equivalents include amounts due from BSP and other banks.  Cash and 
cash equivalents are defined as cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term, highly 
liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in value.

All financial assets are recognized on their trade date.  All financial assets that are not classified 
as at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value, plus transaction 
costs.  Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair 
value and transaction costs are expensed in profit or loss.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial asset at initial recognition is the transaction 
price (i.e., the fair value of the consideration given or received) unless the fair value of that 
instrument is evidenced by comparison with other observable current market transactions 
in the same instrument (i.e., without modification or repackaging) or based on a valuation 
technique whose variables include only data from observable markets.  When such evidence 
exists, the Bank recognizes the profits on day one.

The foregoing categories of financial instruments are more fully described below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

(a) Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 

    This category includes financial assets that are either classified as held for trading or are 
designated by the entity to be carried at fair value through profit or loss upon initial 
recognition.  A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the 
purpose of selling it in the near term or if so designated by management.  Derivatives 
are also categorized as ‘held for trading’ unless they are designated as hedges. 

    Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial assets included in this category are 
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.  Financial 
assets (except derivatives and financial assets originally designated as financial assets 
at FVTPL) may be subsequently reclassified out of FVTPL category effective July 1, 
2008:

   i.  only in rare circumstances and if there is a change in intention (i.e., the financial asset 
is no longer held for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near future);

   ii.  if the financial asset would have met the definition of loans and receivables and if the 
financial asset had not been required to be classified as HFT at initial recognition and 
the entity has the intention and ability to hold the financial asset for the foreseeable 
future or until maturity; and 

   iii.  for CLNs and derivatives embedded in CLNs linked to ROP bonds as permitted by 
BSP for prudential regulation and by the SEC for financial reporting purposes.

(b) Loans and Receivables  

    Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market.  They arise when the Bank provides 
money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the 
receivables. 

 
    Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 

interest method, less any impairment losses.  Any change in their value is recognized in 
profit or loss, except for changes in fair values of reclassified financial assets under PAS 
39 and PFRS 7 (Amendments).  Increases in estimates of future cash receipts from such 
financial assets shall be recognized as an adjustment to the effective interest rate from 
the date of the change in estimate rather than as an adjustment to the carrying amount 
of the financial asset at the date of the change in estimate.

 
    Impairment loss is provided when there is objective evidence that the Bank will not 

be able to collect all amounts due to it in accordance with the original terms of the 
receivables.  The amount of the impairment loss is determined as the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

  (c) Held-to-maturity Investments

    This includes non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and 
a fixed date of maturity.  Investments are classified as held-to-maturity if the Bank has 
the positive intention and ability to hold them until maturity.

    Investments intended to be held for an undefined period are not included in this 
classification.  

    Held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method.  In addition, if there is objective evidence that the investment has been 
impaired, the financial asset is measured at the present value of estimated cash flows.  
Any changes to the carrying amount of the investment are recognized in profit or loss.  

    Should the Bank sell other than an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity investments, 
the entire category would be tainted and reclassified as available-for-sale securities.  The 
tainting provision will not apply if the sales or reclassifications of held-to-maturity 
investments are so close to maturity or the financial asset’s call date that changes in 
the market rate of interest would not have a significant effect on the financial asset’s 
fair value; occur after the Bank has collected substantially all of the financial asset’s 
original principal through scheduled payments or prepayments; or are attributable to 
an isolated event that is beyond the control of the Bank, is nonrecurring and could not 
have been reasonably anticipated by the Bank.

  (d) Available-for-sale Financial Assets  

    This includes non-derivative financial assets that are either designated to this category 
or do not qualify for inclusion in any of the other categories of financial assets.

    All financial assets within this category are initially recognized at fair value plus 
transaction costs and subsequently measured at fair value, unless otherwise disclosed, 
with changes in value recognized in equity, net of any effects arising from income taxes.  
Gains and losses arising from securities classified as  available-for-sale are recognized in 
profit or loss when they are sold or when the investment is impaired. 

    In the case of impairment, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized directly 
in equity is transferred to profit or loss.  If circumstances change, impairment losses 
on available-for-sale equity instruments are not reversed through profit or loss.  On 
the other hand, if in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified 
as available-for-sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in profit or loss, the impairment loss 
is reversed through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

     For investments that are actively traded in organized financial markets, fair value 
is determined by reference to exchange quoted market bid prices at the close of 
business at the end of each reporting period.  For investments where there is no 
quoted market price, fair value is determined by reference to the current market 
value of another instrument which is substantially the same or is calculated based on 
the expected cash flows of the underlying net asset base of the investment.

    Non-compounding interest and other cash flows resulting from holding financial assets 
are recognized in profit or loss when earned, regardless of how the related carrying 
amount of financial assets is measured.

    Derecognition of financial assets occurs when the rights to receive cash flows from 
the financial instruments expire or are transferred and substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership have been transferred. 

2.3.2 Derivative Financial Instruments

   The Bank is a party to various foreign currency forward contracts, cross-currency and interest 
rate swaps, and credit default swaps (CDS).  These contracts are entered into as a service to 
customers and as a means of reducing or managing the Bank’s foreign exchange and interest 
rate exposure as well as for trading purposes. 

   Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is 
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value except for CDS embedded 
in CLNs linked to ROPs which the Bank reclassified to loans and receivables together with 
the host contract without bifurcating the embedded derivative component (see Note 2).  Fair 
values are obtained from quoted market prices in active markets and valuation techniques, 
including discounted cash flow models and options pricing models, as appropriate.  All 
derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is 
negative.

   The best evidence of the fair value of a derivative at initial recognition is the transaction 
price (i.e., the fair value of the consideration given or received) unless the fair value of that 
instrument is evidenced by comparison with other observable current market transactions 
in the same instrument (i.e., without modification or repackaging) or based on a valuation 
technique whose variables include only data from observable markets. When such evidence 
exists, the Bank recognizes the profits on day one.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

   For more complex instruments, the Bank uses proprietary models, which usually are developed 
from recognized valuation models.  Some or all of the inputs into these models may not 
be market observable, and are derived from market prices or rates or are estimated based 
on assumptions.  When entering into a transaction, the financial instrument is recognized 
initially at the transaction price, which is the best indicator of fair value, although the value 
obtained from the valuation model may differ from the transaction price.  This initial 
difference, usually an increase, in fair value indicated by valuation techniques is recognized 
in income depending upon the individual facts and circumstances of each transaction and 
not later than when the market data becomes observable.

   The value produced by a model or other valuation technique is adjusted to allow for a 
number of factors as appropriate, because valuation techniques cannot appropriately reflect 
all factors market participants take into account when entering into a transaction.  Valuation 
adjustments are recorded to allow for model risks, bid-ask spreads, liquidity risks, and other 
factors.  

   Management believes that these valuation adjustments are necessary and appropriate to fairly 
state financial instruments carried at fair value on the statement of financial position.

   Certain derivatives embedded in other financial instruments, such as CDS in a CLN, are 
treated as separate derivatives (except for CDS embedded in CLNs linked to ROPs which 
the Bank reclassified to loans and receivables together with the host contract) when their 
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract and the 
host contract is not carried at fair value through profit or loss.  These embedded derivatives are 
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized as part of Trading and Securities 
Gain in the profit or loss.  The change in fair value of derivative financial instruments is 
recognized in profit or loss except when their effect qualifies as hedging instrument.

2.3.3 Offsetting Financial Instruments

   Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement 
of financial position when there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.  This is not generally the case with master netting agreements, and 
the related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the statement of financial position.

2.3.4 Sale and Repurchase Agreements

   Securities purchased under agreements to resell (such as Securities Purchased Under Reverse 
Repurchase Agreements) are recorded at fair value through profit or loss.  The Bank enters 
into short-term purchases of securities under reverse repurchase agreements of substantially 
identical securities with the BSP.  Interest earned on resale agreements are reported as interest 
income. 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

2.3.5 Impairment of Financial Assets

   The Bank assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence 
that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.  A financial asset or a group 
of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is 
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the 
initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and that loss event (events) has an impact on 
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be 
reliably estimated. 

   Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets is impaired includes observable 
data that comes to the attention of the Bank about certain loss events, including, among 
others: significant financial difficulty of the issuer or debtor; a breach of contract, such as a 
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; it is probable that the borrower will 
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; the disappearance of an active market for 
that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or observable data indicating that there is 
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a group of financial assets since 
the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the 
individual financial assets in the group. 

	 	 •	 Assets	carried	at	amortized	cost

    The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually 
for financial assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively 
for financial assets that are not individually significant.  If the Bank determines that 
no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, 
whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial asset with similar 
credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.  Assets that are 
individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues 
to be recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

    If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans or held-to-maturity 
investments carried at amortized cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is 
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit loss that have not been incurred) 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.  The carrying amount 
of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the 
loss is recognized in the profit or loss.  If loans or held-to-maturity investments have a 
variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current 
effective interest rate determined under the contract.  As a practical expedient, the Bank 
may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable 
market price.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

    For the purpose of collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on 
the basis of similar credit risk characteristics (i.e., on the basis of the Bank’s grading 
process that considers asset type, industry, geographical location, collateral type, past-due 
status and other relevant factors).  Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of 
future cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to 
pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.

    Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for 
impairment are estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in 
the Bank and historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar 
to those in the Bank.  Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current 
observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period 
on which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions 
in the historical period that do not exist currently.

    Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets should reflect and be 
directionally consistent with changes in related observable data from period to period 
(for example, changes in unemployment rates, property prices, payment status, or 
other factors indicative of changes in the probability of losses in the group and their 
magnitude).  The methodology and assumptions used for estimated future cash flows 
are reviewed regularly by the Bank to reduce any differences between loss estimates and 
actual loss experience.

    When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for loan 
impairment.  Such loans are written off after all the necessary procedures have been 
completed and the amount of the loss has been determined.  Subsequent recoveries 
of amounts previously written off decrease the amount of the provision for loan 
impairment in the profit or loss.

    If in a subsequent period the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized 
(such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the previously recognized 
impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account.  The amount of the 
reversal is recognized in the profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

	 	 •	 Assets	carried	at	fair	value

    The Bank assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence 
that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.  In the case of equity 
investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair 
value of security below its cost is considered in determining whether the assets are 
impaired.  If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale securities, the cumulative 
loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, 
less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in profit or loss – 
is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.  Impairment 
losses recognized in profit or loss on equity instruments are not reversed through 
profit or loss.  If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified 
as available for sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in profit or loss, the impairment loss 
is reversed through profit or loss.

	 	 •	 Assets	carried	at	cost

    The Bank assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence 
that any of the unquoted equity securities and derivative assets linked to and required 
to be settled in such unquoted equity instruments, which are carried at cost may be 
impaired.  The amount of impairment loss is the difference between the carrying 
amount of the equity security and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the current market rate of return of a similar asset.  Impairment losses on 
assets carried at cost cannot be reversed.

2.3.6 Financial Liabilities

   Financial liabilities include deposit liabilities, bills payable, derivative financial liabilities and 
accrued taxes and other liabilities.

   Financial liabilities are recognized when the Bank becomes a party to the contractual 
agreements of the instrument.  All interest related charges are recognized as interest expense 
in the profit or loss.

   Deposit liabilities and bills payable are recognized initially at fair value, which is the issue 
proceeds (fair value of consideration received) net of direct issue costs.  Borrowings are 
subsequently stated at amortized cost; any difference between proceeds net of transaction 
costs and the redemption value is recognized in the profit or loss over the period of the 
borrowings using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

   Derivative financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently valued 
at fair value with changes in fair value charged to statement of income except for CDS 
embedded in CLNs linked to ROPs which the Bank reclassified to loans and receivables 
together with the host contract.

   Accrued taxes and other liabilities are recognized initially at their nominal value and 
subsequently measured at amortized cost less settlement payments.

   Dividend distributions to shareholders are recognized as financial liabilities when the 
dividends are approved by the Board and the BSP.

   Financial liabilities are derecognized from the statement of financial position only when the 
obligations are extinguished either through discharge, cancellation or expiration.

2.4 Bank Premises, Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment

  Bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment are carried at acquisition cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses, if any. 

  The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and directly attributable cost of bringing the asset 
to working condition for its intended use.  Expenditures for additions, improvements and renewals 
are capitalized; expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred.  When 
assets are sold, retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and their related accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in 
income for the period.

  Depreciation is computed on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as 
follows:

 Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 - 5 years
 Transportation equipment 5 years

  Leasehold improvements are amortized over the term of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the 
improvements, whichever is shorter.

  An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (see Note 2.9).

  The residual values and estimated useful lives of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment 
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

  An item of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when 
no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.  Any gain 
or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in the statement of income in the year 
the item is derecognized.

2.5 Provisions

  Provisions are recognized when present obligations will probably lead to an outflow of economic 
resources and they can be estimated reliably even if the timing or amount of the outflow may still 
be uncertain.  A present obligation arises from the presence of a legal or constructive commitment 
that has resulted from past events, for example, legal disputes or onerous contracts. 

  Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based 
on the most reliable evidence available at the end of each reporting period, including the risks and 
uncertainties associated with the present obligation.  Any reimbursement expected to be received in 
the course of settlement of the present obligation is recognized, if virtually certain as a separate asset, 
not exceeding the amount of the related provision.  Where there are a number of similar obligations, 
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class 
of obligations as a whole.  In addition, long-term provisions are discounted to their present values, 
where time value of money is material.

  Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimate.

  In those cases where the possible outflow of economic resource as a result of present obligations is 
considered improbable or remote, or the amount to be provided for cannot be measured reliably, 
no liability is recognized in the financial statements. 

  Probable inflows of economic benefits that do not yet meet the recognition criteria of an asset are 
considered contingent assets, hence, are not recognized in the financial statements.

2.6 Revenue and Cost Recognition

2.6.1 Interest Income and Expense

   Interest income and expense are recognized in the profit or loss for all instruments measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

   The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial 
asset or a financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over 
the relevant period.  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument 
or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset 
or financial liability.  When calculating the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates cash 
flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment 
options) but does not consider future credit losses.  The calculation includes all fees and 
points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

   Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a 
result of an impairment loss, interest income is recognized using the rate of interest used to 
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

2.6.2 Service Charges, Fees and Commissions

   Service charges, fees and commissions are generally recognized on an accrual basis when the 
service has been provided.  Commission and fees arising from negotiating, or participating in 
the negotiation of, a transaction for a third party – such as the arrangement of the acquisition 
of debt instruments or other securities – are recognized on completion of the underlying 
transaction.  Other service fees are recognized based on the applicable service contracts, 
usually on a time-appropriate basis.  

2.6.3 Trading and Securities Gain

   Trading and securities gain is recognized when the ownership of the security is transferred 
to the buyer and is computed as the difference between the selling price and the carrying 
amount of the security.  Trading and securities gain also includes results from the mark-to-
market valuation of the securities at the end of each reporting period.

2.7 Leases

  Leases, which do not transfer to the Bank substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of 
the asset are classified as operating leases.  Operating lease payments are recognized as expense in 
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  Associated costs, such as maintenance and 
insurance, are expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

2.8 Foreign Currency Transactions

  The books of accounts of the Regular Banking Unit (RBU) are maintained in Philippine peso, 
while those of the Foreign Currency Deposit Unit (FCDU) are maintained in United States Dollar 
(USD). 

 a. RBU 

   As at end of each reporting period, foreign currency-denominated monetary assets and 
liabilities of the RBU are translated in Philippine peso based on the Philippine Dealing 
System (PDS) closing rate prevailing at end of the year and foreign currency-denominated 
income and expenses, at the exchange rate at the PDS weighted average rate (PDSWAR) 
for the year.  Foreign exchange differences arising from restatement of foreign currency-
denominated assets and liabilities in the RBU are credited to or charged against current 
operations in the year in which the rates change.  

   Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions.  Non-monetary 
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at 
the date when the fair value was determined. 

 b. FCDU 

   As at end of each reporting period, the assets and liabilities of the Bank’s FCDU are translated 
into the Bank’s presentation currency (the Philippine peso) at PDS closing rate prevailing 
at the end of reporting period, and their income and expenses are translated at PDSWAR 
for the period.  Exchange differences arising on translation are taken directly to a separate 
component of equity under ‘Cumulative Translation Adjustment’. 

2.9 Impairment of Non-financial Assets

  The Bank’s premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment and other resources are subject to impairment 
testing whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. 

  An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset or cash-generating unit’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, 
reflecting market conditions less costs to sell and value in use, based on an internal discounted 
cash flow evaluation.  Impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash generating 
unit.  

  All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognized 
may no longer exist and the carrying amount of the asset is adjusted to the recoverable amount 
resulting in the reversal of the impairment loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

2.10 Employee Benefits

	•	 Retirement	Benefit	Obligations	

   Pension benefits are provided to employees through a defined benefit plan, as well as a defined 
contribution plan.

   A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an 
employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, 
years of service and salary.  The legal obligation for any benefits from this kind of pension 
plan remains with the Bank, even if plan assets for funding the defined benefit plan have 
been acquired.  Plan assets may include assets specifically designated to a long-term benefit 
fund, as well as qualifying insurance policies.  The Bank’s defined benefit pension plan covers 
all regular full-time employees.  The pension plan is tax-qualified, noncontributory and 
administered by a trustee.  

   The liability recognized in the statement of financial position for defined benefit pension plans 
is the present value of the defined benefit obligation (DBO) at the end of reporting period 
date less the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments for unrecognized actuarial 
gains or losses and past service costs.  The DBO is calculated by independent actuaries 
using the projected unit credit method.  The present value of the DBO is determined by 
discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high quality corporate 
bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have 
terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension liability.

   Actuarial gains and losses are not recognized as an expense unless the total unrecognized gain 
or loss exceeds 10% of the greater of the obligation and related plan assets.  The amount 
exceeding this 10% corridor is charged or credited to profit or loss over the employees’ 
expected average remaining working lives.  Actuarial gains and losses within the 10% corridor 
are disclosed separately.  Past-service costs are recognized immediately in the statement of 
income, unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees remaining 
in service for a specified period of time (the vesting period).  In this case, the past service costs 
are amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

   A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Bank pays fixed contributions 
into an independent entity such as the Social Security System.  The Bank has no legal or 
constructive obligations to pay further contributions after payment of the fixed contribution.  
The contributions recognized in respect of defined contribution plans are expensed as they 
fall due.  
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December 31, 2009 And 2008

	 •	 Profit-sharing	and	Bonus	Plans

   The Bank recognizes a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based on a 
formula that takes into consideration the profit attributable to the Bank’s shareholders after 
certain adjustments.  The Bank recognizes a provision where it is contractually obliged to pay 
the benefits, or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

	 •	 Compensated	Absences

   Compensated absences are recognized for the number of paid leave days (including holiday 
entitlement) remaining at the end of reporting period.  They are included in the Accrued 
Taxes and Other Liabilities account at the undiscounted amount that the Bank expects to 
pay as a result of the unused entitlement.

2.11 Income Taxes

  Current income tax assets or liabilities comprise those claims from, or obligations to, fiscal authorities 
relating to the current or prior reporting period, that are uncollected or unpaid at the end of the 
reporting period.  They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the fiscal 
periods to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the year.  All changes to current tax 
assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax expense in profit or loss.

  Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on temporary differences at the end of the 
reporting period between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes.

  Under the liability method, with certain exceptions, deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all 
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary 
differences and the carryforward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deferred tax asset can be utilized. 

  The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or 
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  

  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 
period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period.

  Most changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax expense in 
the statement of income.  Only changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities that relate to a change 
in value of assets or liabilities that is charged directly to equity are charged or credited directly to 
equity.
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December 31, 2009 And 2008

2.12 Trust Operations

  The Bank commonly acts as trustee and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the holding or 
placing of assets on behalf of individuals, trusts, retirement benefit plans and other institutions.  
These assets and income arising thereon are excluded from these financial statements, as they are 
not assets of the Bank.

2.13 Equity

  Preferred and common stocks are determined using the nominal value of shares that have been 
issued.

  Appropriated surplus pertains to appropriations for general loan losses computed based on existing 
BSP regulations on loan loss provisioning.

  Surplus free includes all current and prior period results as reported in the statement of income.

  Fair value gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities pertains to mark-to-market valuation of available-
for-sale securities.

2.14 Financial Risk Management

2.14.1 Strategy in Using Financial Instruments

   By their nature, the Bank’s activities are principally related to the use of financial instruments 
including derivatives.  The Bank accepts deposits from customers at fixed and floating rates, 
and for various periods, and seeks to earn above-average interest margins by investing these 
funds in high-quality assets.  The Bank seeks to increase these margins by consolidating 
short-term funds, lending and investing for longer periods at higher rates, while maintaining 
sufficient liquidity to meet all claims that might fall due.

   The Bank also trades in financial instruments where it takes positions in traded and over-
the-counter instruments, including derivatives, to take advantage of short-term market 
movements in bonds and in currency and interest rate prices.  
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

2.14.1 Strategy in Using Financial Instruments

   To manage the financial risk for holding financial assets and liabilities, the Bank operates 
an integrated risk management system to address the risks it faces in its banking activities, 
including liquidity, interest rate, credit and market risks.  The Bank’s risk management 
objective is to adequately and consistently evaluate, manage, control, and monitor the risk 
profile of the Bank’s statements of financial position to optimize the risk-reward balance and 
maximize return on the Bank’s capital.  The Bank’s Risk Management Committee (RMC) 
has overall responsibility for the Bank’s risk management systems and sets risks management 
policies across the full range of risks to which the Bank is exposed.  The Bank’s RMC places 
trading limits on the level of exposure that can be taken in relation to both overnight and 
intra-day market positions.  With the exception of specific hedging arrangements, foreign 
exchange and interest rate exposures associated with these derivatives are normally offset by 
entering into counterbalancing positions, thereby controlling the variability in the net cash 
amounts required to liquidate market positions.

   Within the Bank’s overall risk management system, the Assets and Liabilities Committee 
(ALCO) is responsible for managing the Bank’s statements of financial position, including 
the Bank’s liquidity, interest rate and foreign exchange related risks.  In addition, ALCO 
formulates investment and financial policies by determining the asset allocation and funding 
mix strategies that are likely to yield the targeted statement of financial position results.

   Separately, the Risk Management Group (RMG) is mandated to adequately and consistently 
evaluate, manage, control and monitor the over-all risk profile of the Bank’s activities across 
the different risk areas (i.e. credit, market, liquidity, and operational) to optimize the risk-
reward balance and maximize return on capital.  RMG has responsibility for the setting of 
risk policies across the full range of risks to which the Bank is exposed to.

  In the performance of its function, RMG has the following responsibilities:

	 	 •	 	It	 is	 responsible	 for	policy	 formulation	in	coordination	with	the	relevant	businesses/
functions and ensures that proper approval for the manuals/policies is obtained from 
the appropriate body.

	 	 •	 	It	 then	disseminates	down	the	approved	policies	to	the	relevant	businesses/functions	
after which, pertinent authorities are delegated down to the businesses/functions 
to guide them in the conduct of their businesses/functions.   RMG then performs 
compliance monitoring and review to ensure approved policies are adhered to.

	 	 •	 	It	 is	 responsible	 for	clarifying	 interpretations	of	 risk	policies/guidelines	raised	by	the	
Business Heads/Units.

	 	 •	 	When	adverse	 trends	are	observed	 in	 the	account/portfolio,	RMG	is	 responsible	 for	
flagging these trends and ensuring relevant policies for problem accounts/portfolio 
management are properly applied.  
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		 •	 	RMG	 is	 responsible	 for	 the	 direct	 management	 of	 accounts	 in	 the	 Bank’s	 Non-
Performing Loan (NPL) portfolio/property-related items in litigations portfolio and 
ensure that appropriate strategies are formulated to maximize collection and/or recovery 
of these assets. 

		 •	 	It	 is	 also	 responsible	 for	 regular	 review	 and	 monitoring	 of	 accounts	 under	 their	
supervision and ensuring that the account’s loan classification is assessed timely and 
accurately.

2.14.2 Market Risk

   The Bank’s exposure to market risk, the risk of future loss from changes in the price of 
a financial instrument, relates primarily to its holdings in foreign exchange instruments, 
debt securities and derivatives.  The Bank manages its risk by identifying, analyzing and 
measuring relevant or likely market risks.  Market Risk Management recommends market 
risk limits based on relevant activity indicators for approval by the Bank’s RMC and Board 
of Directors. 

  The Bank’s market risk management limits are generally categorized as limits on:

		 •	 	Value-at-risk	 (VaR)	 –	 The	 RMG	 computes	 the	 value-at-risk	 benchmarked	 at	 a	 level	
which is a percentage of projected earnings.  The Bank uses the VaR model to estimate 
the daily potential loss that the Bank can incur from its trading book, based on a number 
of assumptions with a confidence level of 99%.  The measurement is designed such that 
exceptions over dealing limits should only arise in very exceptional circumstances.

		 •	 	Stop	 loss	 –	The	 RMG	 sets	 the	 amount	 of	 each	 risk-bearing	 activity	 at	 a	 percentage	 of	
the budgeted annual income for such activity.

		 •	 	Nominal	 position	 –	 The	 RMG	 sets	 the	 nominal	 amount	 of	 U.S.	 dollar	 denominated	
instruments at the BSP-mandated U.S. dollar overbought position limit to prevent 
over-trading, excessive concentration, and to limit financial loss supplementing other 
already established limits.

		 •	 	Trading	 volume	 –	 The	 RMG	 sets	 the	 volume	 of	 transactions	 that	 any	 employee	 may	
execute at various levels based on the rank of the personnel making the risk-bearing 
decision.

		 •	 	Earnings-at-risk	 –	 The	 RMG	 computes	 the	 earnings-at-risk	 based	 on	 a	 percentage	 of	
projected annual net interest income.
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   The Bank uses the VaR model to estimate the daily potential loss that the Bank can incur 
from its trading book. VaR is one of the key measures in the Bank’s management of market 
risk.  VaR is defined as a statistical estimate of the maximum possible loss on a given position 
during a time horizon within a given confidence interval.  The Bank uses a 99% confidence 
level and a 260-day observation period in VaR calculation.  The Bank’s VaR limit is established 
as a percentage of projected earnings and is used to alert senior management whenever the 
potential losses in the Bank’s portfolios exceed tolerable levels.  

   Because the VaR measure is tied to market volatility, it therefore allows management to react 
quickly and adjust its portfolio strategies in different market conditions in accordance with 
its risk philosophy and appetite.  The VaR model is validated through back-testing.

   Although VaR is an important tool for measuring market risk, the assumptions on which the 
model is based do give rise to some limitations, including the following:

	 	 •	 	A	1-day	holding	period	 assumes	 that	 it	 is	 possible	 to	 hedge	 or	 dispose	 of	 positions	
within that period.  This is considered to be a realistic assumption in almost all cases 
but may not be the case in situations in which there is severe market illiquidity for a 
prolonged period.

	 	 •	 	A	99%	confidence	level	does	not	reflect	losses	that	may	occur	beyond	this	level.		Even	
within the model used, there is a one percent probability that losses could exceed the 
VaR.

	 	 •	 	VaR	is	calculated	on	an	end-of-day	basis	and	does	not	reflect	exposures	that	may	arise	
on positions during the trading day.

	 	 •	 	The	use	of	historical	data	as	a	basis	for	determining	the	possible	range	of	future	outcomes	
may not always cover all possible scenarios, especially those of an exceptional nature.

	 	 •	 	The	VaR	measure	is	dependent	upon	the	Bank’s	position	and	the	volatility	of	market	
prices.  The VaR of an unchanged position reduces if the market price volatility declines 
and vice versa.

 
   The limitations of the VaR methodology are recognized by supplementing VaR limits 

with other position and sensitivity limit structures, including limits to address potential 
concentration risks within each trading portfolio.  In addition, the Bank uses a wide range 
of stress tests to model the financial impact of a variety of exceptional market scenarios on 
individual trading portfolios and the Bank’s overall position.
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   Stress VaR is also performed on all portfolios as a complementary measure of risk.  While 
VaR deals with risk during times of normality, stress testing is used to measure the potential 
effect of a crisis or low probability event.

   A summary of the VaR position of the Bank’s trading portfolios as at December 31, 2009  
and 2008 follows:

2009 2008
VaR Stress VaR VaR Stress VaR

Foreign currency risk P 584,234 P 5,581,962 P 4,161,370 P 40,081,290
Interest rate risk – Peso 3,880,487 42,049,728 1,382,722 6,337,917
Interest rate risk - USD 3,421,781 49,001,300 2,508,307 9,808,897

P 7,886,502 P 96,632,990 P 8,052,399 P 56,228,104

2.14.2.1 Foreign Exchange Risk

   The Bank manages its exposure to effects of fluctuations in the foreign currency exchange 
rates by maintaining foreign currency exposure within the existing regulatory guidelines and 
at a level that it believes to be relatively conservative for a financial institution engaged in that 
type of business.

   The Bank’s net foreign exchange exposure is computed as its foreign currency resources less 
foreign currency liabilities.  BSP regulations impose a cap of 20% of unimpaired capital or 
US$50 million, whichever is lower, on the consolidated excess foreign exchange holdings of 
banks in the Philippines.  In the case of the Bank, its foreign exchange exposure is primarily 
foreign exchange trading with corporate accounts and other financial institutions.  The Bank, 
as a market participant in the Philippine Dealing System, may engage in proprietary trading 
to take advantage of foreign exchange fluctuations.

   The Bank’s foreign exchange exposure during the day is guided by the limits set forth in the 
Bank’s Risk Management Manual.  These limits are within the prescribed ceilings mandated 
by the BSP.  At the end of each day, the Bank reports to the BSP on its compliance with the 
mandated foreign currency exposure limits. 
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   The following tables set out the composition of the Bank’s financial resources and liabilities 
as to currency as of December 31, 2009 and 2008:

2009
Foreign Currency Peso Total

Resources:
   Due from BSP P - P 1,690,101,529 P 1,690,101,529
   Due from other banks 1,736,370,849 16,778,479 1,753,149,328
   Financial assets at fair value
      through profit or loss 464,455,462 5,139,498,786 5,603,954,248
   Available-for-sale securities 2,646,738,614 1,053,999,814 3,700,738,428
   Held-to-maturity investments 3,740,285,017 4,948,707,291 8,688,992,308
   Loans and receivables 3,315,529,327 4,553,067,938 7,868,597,265
   Other resources - 6,395,066 6,395,066

P 11,903,379,269 P 17,408,548,903 P 29,311,928,172

Liabilities:
   Deposit liabilities P 9,529,368,957 P 10,515,810,096 P 20,045,179,053
   Bills payable - 4,000,897,192 4,000,897,192
   Derivative financial liabilities 311,526,788 1,081,343,475 1,392,870,263
   Accrued taxes and other liabilities - 159,564,917 159,564,917

P 9,840,895,745 P 15,757,615,680 P 25,598,511,425

2008
Foreign Currency Peso Total

Resources:
   Due from BSP P - P 2,728,883,901 P 2,728,883,901
   Due from other banks 1,950,848,148 11,340,095 1,962,188,243
   Financial assets at fair value
      through profit or loss 113,801,147 13,576,539,224 13,690,340,371
   Available-for-sale securities 1,877,434,571 493,162,648 2,370,597,319
   Held-to-maturity investments 3,894,636,636 4,909,377,943 8,804,014,579
   Loans and receivables 5,310,766,627 1,663,173,531 6,973,940,158
   Other resources - 6,354,535 6,354,535

P 13,147,487,129 P 23,388,831,877 P 36,536,319,106
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2008
Foreign Currency Peso Total

Liabilities:
   Deposit liabilities P 10,129,231,507 P 16,382,361,233 P 26,511,592,740
   Bills payable - 5,564,787,566 5,564,787,566
   Derivative financial liabilities 72,569,847 1,028,501,854 1,101,071,701
   Accrued taxes and other liabilities 22,788,250 114,741,800 137,530,050

P 10,224,589,604 P 23,090,392,453 P 33,314,982,057

   The Bank’s foreign exchange risk is measured as a component of the VaR model presented in 
Note 2.14.2.

2.14.2.2 Interest Rate Risk

The Bank prepares a gap analysis to measure the sensitivity of its resources, liabilities and off-
statement of financial position positions to interest rate fluctuations.  The focus of analysis 
is the impact of changes in interest rates on accrual or reported earnings.  This analysis 
would give management a glimpse of maturity and re-pricing profile of its interest sensitive 
resources and liabilities.  An interest rate gap report is prepared by classifying all resources 
and liabilities into various time buckets according to contracted maturities or anticipated 
repricing dates, and other applicable behavioral assumptions.  

The difference in the amount of resources and liabilities maturing or being repriced in any 
time period category would then give the Bank an indication of the extent to which it is 
exposed to the risk of potential changes in net interest income.

The following table shows the amounts of the Bank’s resources and liabilities that are subject 
to different interest rate arrangements as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 (amounts in 
thousands):

2009 2008
Resources Liabilities Resources Liabilities

Subject to floating interest rates P 2,394,385 P 1,150,218 P 14,463,388 P 16,438,674
Subject to fixed interest rates 23,389,131 23,573,622 20,455,318 15,273,405
Non-interest bearing 3,639,731 874,671 1,709,932 1,602,903

P 29,423,247 P 25,598,511 P 36,628,638 P 33,314,982
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The analyses of the groupings of resources, liabilities and off-statement of financial position 
items as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 based on expected interest realization or recognition 
are presented below (amounts in millions):

2009

One to
three

months

More
than three
months to
one year

More
than one 
year to

five years

More
than five

years
Non-rate
sensitive Total

Resources:
   Due from BSP P 1,690 P - P - P - P - P 1,690
   Due from other banks 1,304  - 449 - - 1,753
   Investments 4,922 743 6,767 4,105 1,456 17,993
   Loans and receivables 834 1,469 4,208 1,175 183 7,869
   Other resources - - - - 118 118
Total Resources 8,750 2,212 11,424 5,280 1,757 29,423

Liabilities and Equity
   Deposit liabilities 3,375 268 1,898 13,048 1,455 20,045
   Bills payable 1,859 25 109 1,993 15 4,001
   Other liabilities - - - - 1,552 1,552
   Total Liabilities 5,234 293 2,007 15,041 3,023 25,597

   Equity - - - - 3,825 3,825 

Total Liabilities and Equity 5,234 293 2,007 15,041 6,848 29,422

On-book Gap 3,516 1,919 9,417 ( 9,761) ( 5,091) -
Cumulative On-book Gap 3,516 5,435 14,852 5,091 - -

Contingent Resources 10,169 770 16,624 - - 27,563
Contingent Liabilities 10,054 761 16,560 - - 27,375
Off-book Gap 115 9 64 - - 188

Cumulative Total Gap P 3,631 P 5,559 P 15,050 P 5,279 P 188 P -
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2008

One to
three

months

More
than three
months to
one year

More
than one 
year to

five years

More
than five

years
Non-rate
sensitive Total

Resources:
   Due from BSP P 2,729 P - P - P - P - P 2,729
   Due from other banks 1,897 65 - - 1,962
   Investments 14,695 1,596 1,404 7,170 - 24,865
   Loans and receivables 1,038 35 5,311 590 - 6,974
   Other resources - - - - 99 99
Total Resources 20,359 1,696 6,715 7,760 99 36,629

Liabilities and Equity
   Deposit liabilities 16,342 3,948 5,403 68 750 26,512
   Bills payable 5,515 - 50 - - 5,565
   Other liabilities - - - - 1,238 1,238
   Total Liabilities 21,857 3,948 5,453 68 1,988 33,314

   Equity - - - - 3,314 3,314

Total Liabilities and Equity 21,857 3,948 5,453 68 5,303 36,628

On-book Gap ( 1,498) ( 2,252) 1,262 7,692 ( 5,204) -
Cumulative On-book Gap ( 1,498) ( 3,750) ( 2,488) 5,204 - -

Contingent Resources 6,889 1,495 8,784 - - 17,167
Contingent Liabilities 6,818 1,410 8,777 - 17,004
Off-book Gap 71 85 7 - - 163

Cumulative Total Gap (P 1,427) (P 3,594) (P 2,325) P 5,367 P 163 P -

The Bank’s interest rate risk is measured as a component of the VaR model presented in Note 
2.14.2.
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2.14.3 Liquidity Risk

 Liquidity risk is the risk that there are insufficient funds available to adequately meet the 
credit demands of the Bank’s customers and repay deposits on maturity.  The Bank manages 
liquidity risk by holding sufficient liquid assets of appropriate quality to ensure short-
term funding requirements are met and by maintaining a balanced loan portfolio which is 
repriced on a regular basis.  In addition, the Bank seeks to maintain sufficient liquidity to 
take advantage of interest rate and exchange rate opportunities when they arise.

 The analyses of the maturity groupings of resources, liabilities and equity as of December 31, 
2009 and 2008, in accordance with the account classifications of the BSP, are presented in 
the succeeding page (amounts in millions).  The liability balances disclosed in the following 
tables are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows.  Such undiscounted cash flows may 
differ from the amounts included in the statement of financial position because certain items 
in the statement of financial position are based on discounted cash flows.

2009

One to
three

months

More
than three
months to
one year

More
than one
year to

five years

More
than five

years Total

Resources:
   Due from BSP P 1,690 P - P - P - P 1,690
   Due from other banks 1,620 121 12 - 1,753
   Investments 4,916 743 6,676 5,658 17,993
   Loans and receivables 833 1,469 4,232 1,335 7,869
   Other resources - - - 118 118
      Total Resources 9,059 2,333 10,920 7,111 29,423

Liabilities and Equity:
   Deposit liabilities 4,353 268 1,898 13,526 20,045
   Bills payable 1,859 25 109 2,008 4,001
   Other liabilities - - - 1,552 1,552
      Total Liabilities 6,212 293 2,007 17,086 25,598

Equity - - - 3,825 3,825

Total Liabilities and Equity 6,212 293 2,007 20,911 29,423

On-book Gap 2,847 2,040 8,913 ( 13,800) 3,825

Cumulative On-book Gap 2,847 4,887 13,800 - -

Contingent Resources 10,169 770 16,624 - 27,563
Contingent Liabilities 10,054 761 16,560 - 27,375
Off-book Gap 115 9 64 - 188

Cumulative Total Gap P 2,962 P 5,011 P 13,988 P 188 P -
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2008

One to
three

months

More
than three
months to
one year

More
than one
year to

five years

More
than five

years Total

Resources:
   Due from BSP P 2,729 P - P - P - P 2,729
   Due from other banks 1,897 65 - - 1,962
   Investments 14,837 1,608 5,446  2,974 24,865
   Loans and receivables 1,038 35 5,311 590 6,974
   Other resources - - 73 26 99
      Total Resources 20,501 1,708 10,830 3,590 36,629

Liabilities and Equity:
   Deposit liabilities 15,671 2,843 4,291 4,058 26,863
   Bills payable 5,530 - 50 - 5,580
   Other liabilities 676 562 - - 1,238
      Total Liabilities 21,877 3,405 4,341 4,058 33,681

Equity - - - 3,314 3,314

Total Liabilities and Equity 21,877 3,405 4,341 7,372 36,995

On-book Gap ( 1,376) ( 1,697) 6,489 ( 3,782) ( 366)

Cumulative On-book Gap ( 1,376) ( 3,073) 3,416 ( 366) -

Contingent Resources 6,889 1,495 8,784 - 17,167
Contingent Liabilities 6,818 1,410 8,777 - 17,004
Off-book Gap 71 85 7 - 163

Cumulative Total Gap (P 1,210) (P 2,707) P 3,945 P 163 P -
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Contractual maturity analysis - derivative financial liabilities

As of December 31, 2009, the Bank’s derivative financial liabilities for which contractual 
maturities are essential for the understanding of cash flows, have contractual maturities as 
follows (amounts in thousands):

One to
three

months

More
than three
months to
one year

More
than one
year to

five years

More
than five

years Total

Forwards P 1,652,016 P 155,326 P 14,768,724 P - P 16,757,066

Interest rate swaps 49,683 2,505,568 2,395,034 - 4,950,285

Cross-currency swaps 444,307 463,776 8,577,492 - 9,485,575

Credit default swaps - - - 818,300 818,300

P 2,146,006 P 3,124,670 P 25,741,250 P 818,300 P 31,830,226

   The amounts presented are net of derivative transactions with existing net settlement 
agreement.

2.14.4 Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty in a transaction may default and arises from 
lending, treasury, derivatives and other activities undertaken by the Bank.  The Bank manages 
its credit risk and loan portfolio through the RMG, which undertakes several functions with 
respect to credit risk management.

The RMG undertakes credit analysis and review to ensure consistency in the Bank’s risk 
assessment process.  The RMG performs risk ratings for corporate accounts and risk scoring 
for consumer accounts.  It also ensures that the Bank’s credit policies and procedures are 
adequate to meet the demands of the business.  The RMG is also responsible for developing 
procedures to streamline and expedite the processing of credit applications.

The RMG also undertakes portfolio management by reviewing the Bank’s loan portfolio, 
including the portfolio risks associated with particular industry sectors, regions, loan size 
and maturity, and development of a strategy for the Bank to achieve its desired portfolio mix 
and risk profile.
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The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount 
of risk accepted in relation to one borrower or issuer, or groups of borrowers or issuers, and 
to geographical and industry segments.  Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis and 
subject to an annual or more frequent review.  Limits on the level of credit risk by product, 
industry sector and by country are approved quarterly by the RMC.

Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and 
potential borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing these 
lending limits when appropriate.  Exposure to credit risk is also managed in part by obtaining 
collateral and corporate and personal guarantees.

The RMG reviews the Bank’s loan portfolio in line with the Bank’s policy of not having 
significant unwarranted concentrations of exposure to individual counterparties, in 
accordance with the BSP’s prohibitions on maintaining a financial exposure to any single 
person or group of connected persons in excess of 25% of its Net Worth.

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the 
statements of financial position, including derivatives. The maximum exposure is gross, 
before the effect of mitigation through the use of netting and collateral agreements.

2009 2008

Due from BSP P 1,690,101,529 P 2,728,883,901
Due from other banks 1,753,149,328 1,962,188,243
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
   Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements 3,723,992,800 12,122,841,867
   Derivatives 1,605,063,120 1,345,260,684
   Government securities 274,898,328 222,237,820
Available-for-sale securities
   Government securities 3,012,364,721 1,799,477,378
   Private debt securities 682,718,607 565,464,841
Held-to-maturity investments
   Government securities 8,315,576,678 8,420,354,239
   Private debt securities 373,415,630 383,660,340
Loans and receivables
   Receivable from customers 3,308,673,517 2,207,506,758
   Unquoted debt securities 4,617,747,938 4,762,163,871
   Other receivables 6,855,810 4,269,529
Other resources
   Others 6,395,066 6,409,535

29,370,953,072 36,530,719,006
Loan commitments 28,612,000 1,600,000,000

P 29,399,565,072 P 38,130,719,006
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The following table sets out the credit quality by class of the Bank’s on-book financial assets 
(gross of unearned discount and allowance for impairment losses) as of December 31, 2009 
and 2008 (amounts in thousands).

2009
Cash and Cash

Equivalents
Loans and
Receivables

Investment
Securities

Neither past due nor impaired:
   Grade: Unclassified P 3,443,251 P 7,037,477 P 17,986,875

Impaired
   Grade: Unclassified* - 895,800 1 1,155 2

P 3,443,251 P 7,933,277 P 17,988,030

2008
Cash and Cash

Equivalents
Loans and
Receivables

Investment
Securities

Neither past due nor impaired:
   Grade: Unclassified P 4,691,072 P 6,980,350 P 24,858,109

Impaired
   Grade: Unclassified* - - 1,188 

P 4,691,072 P 6,980,350 P 24,859,297

 1  Impaired loans and receivable pertains to investment in CLN with book value and impairment loss amounting 
to P895.8 million and P64.7 million, respectively (see Note 8).

 2  Impaired financial assets include investment  in CDO classified as available-for-sale and was fully provided with 
allowance for impairment loss as of December 31, 2009 (see Note 5).

The Bank does not have any financial assets that are past due but not impaired.  

 The Bank holds some collateral against loans to customers in the form of deposits and 
money market investments; fixed, floater and zero coupon bonds and notes guaranteed by 
the government; fixed, floater or zero coupon bonds issued by domestic corporations; and 
listed and publicly traded liquid equity issues.  The market values of collaterals are based on 
the previous day’s closing price and are revalued daily.  Collateral generally is not held over 
loans, due from other banks and investment securities, except when securities are held as part 
of reverse repurchase and securities borrowing activities. 
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 An estimate of the fair value of collateral and other security enhancements held against neither 
past due nor impaired financial assets as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 are shown below.

2009 2008

Properties P 13,705,382 P 8,355,660
Debt securities 189,693,140 66,469,470
Equities 154,337,111 826,248

P 357,735,633 P 75,651,378

 The Bank monitors concentrations of credit risk by sector and by geographic location.  An 
analysis of concentrations of credit risk at the reporting date is shown below:

2009
Cash and Cash

Equivalents
Loans – excluding 
Other Receivables

Investment
Securities

Concentration by sector:
   Financial intermediaries P 3,443,250,857 P 3,113,322,309 P 15,310,097,695
   Manufacturing (various industries) - 3,126,527,034 2,484,716,605
   Real estate, renting and -
      business activities - 689,321,352 198,870,684
   Agriculture, fishing and forestry - 836,812,645 -
   Other community, social
      and personal activities - 100,612,666 -

P 3,443,250,857 P 7,866,596,006 P 17,993,684,984

Concentration by location:
   Philippines P 3,112,881,320 P 4,753,273,697 P 14,654,927,044
   Other 330,369,537 3,113,322,309 3,338,757,940

P 3,443,250,857 P 7,866,596,006 P 17,993,684,984
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2008
Cash and Cash

Equivalents
Loans – excluding 
Other Receivables

Investment
Securities

Concentration by sector:
   Financial intermediaries P 4,691,072,144 P 4,762,163,871 P 24,577,784,911
   Manufacturing (various industries) - 1,326,978,547 -
   Real estate, renting and
      business activities - 29,904,254 146,060,340
  Other community, social
      and personal activities - 861,303,021 135,451,918

P 4,691,072,144 P 6,980,349,693 P 24,859,297,169

Concentration by location:
   Philippines P 2,898,787,899 P 3,713,050,619 P 21,266,397,070
   Other 1,792,284,245 3,267,299,074 3,598,555,199

P 4,691,072,144 P 6,980,349,693 P 24,864,952,269

2.14.5 Equity Risk

Equity risk is the risk that the fair values of equity investments decrease as a result of changes 
in the levels of equity indices and the value of individual stocks (whether traded or not).  The 
Bank has no significant equity risk.

2.15 Operational Risk

 Operational risk is the risk of loss due to the Bank’s:

	 •	 failure	to	comply	with	defined	bank	operational	procedures;
	 •	 inability	to	address	fraud	committed	internally	or	externally;	
	 •	 inability	to	handle	system	failures;	and	
	 •	 inability	to	cope	with	the	impact	of	external	events.

  The Bank manages its operational risks by having policies to minimize its expected losses, allocating 
capital for the unexpected losses, and having insurance and/or a business continuity plan to prepare 
for catastrophic losses. 
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2.15.1 Framework

True to its commitment to sound management and corporate governance, the Bank considers 
operational risk management as a critical element in the conduct of its business.  Under 
the Group’s Operational Risk Management (ORM) Framework, the Board is ultimately 
responsible for providing leadership in the management of risk in the Bank.  The business 
and service unit heads, as risk owners, are responsible for identifying, assessing and limiting 
the impact of risk in their businesses.  The RMG provides the common risk language and 
management tools across the Bank as well as monitors the implementation of the ORM 
framework and policies.

Since 2006, the RMG has been conducting workshops with management and their 
operational risk coordinators to promote risk consciousness, and to instill the discipline of 
risk self-assessment.

In 2007, the ORM Policy Manual, which defines the Bank’s minimum requirements that 
must be strictly adhered to by all units within the BDO Group, was officially released to the 
merged business, service units and subsidiaries of BDO Group. Alignment of their respective 
policies to this manual has been on-going. 

In 2008, RMG continued to focus on business continuity, information security, legal 
and regulatory compliance, outsourcing guidelines and complaints management, where 
substantial mitigating measures have been reinforced.

In 2009, RMG focused on implementing risk management tools by launching the assessment 
process using Key Risk Indicators (KRI) and Key Controls Self-Assessment (KCSA) as alerts 
for operational risk vulnerabilities.

Operational risks are monitored to assess, measure and eventually manage/mitigate risks 
using appropriate management tools (e.g. building of the loss database, etc.).

2.16 Capital Management 

2.16.1 Regulatory Capital 

The Bank’s lead regulator, the BSP, sets and monitors capital requirements for the Bank.  
In implementing current capital requirements, the BSP requires the Bank to maintain a 
prescribed ratio of qualifying capital to risk-weighted assets.

The BSP, under BSP Circular 538 dated August 4, 2006 has prescribed guidelines in 
implementing the revised risk-based capital adequacy framework for the Philippine banking 
system to conform to Basel II Accord recommendations.  The new BSP guidelines took effect 
on July 1, 2007.
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Under current banking regulations, the combined capital accounts of each bank should not 
be less than an amount equal to ten percent of its risk assets.  The qualifying capital of the 
Bank for purposes of determining the capital-to-risk assets ratio is total equity excluding:

a.  unbooked valuation reserves and other capital adjustments as may be required by the 
BSP;

b.  total outstanding unsecured credit accommodations to directors, officers, stockholders 
and related interests (DOSRI); 

c. deferred tax asset or liability; 
d. goodwill;  
e. sinking fund for redemption of redeemable preferred shares; and,
f. other regulatory deductions.

Risk assets consist of total assets after the exclusion of cash on hand, due from BSP, loans 
covered by hold-out on or assignment of deposits, loans or acceptances under letters of credit 
to the extent covered by margin deposits, and other non-risk items as determined by the 
Monetary Board of the BSP.

The Bank’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base as to maintain investor, creditor and 
market confidence and to sustain future development of the business.  The impact of the level 
of capital on shareholder’s return is recognized by the Bank as well as the need to maintain 
a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with greater gearing and the 
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position.

Under existing BSP regulations, the determination of the Bank’s compliance with regulatory 
requirements and ratios is based on the amount of the Bank’s “unimpaired capital” (regulatory 
net worth) as reported to the BSP, which is determined on the basis of regulatory accounting 
policies, which differ from PFRS in some aspects.  The combined capital accounts of the 
Bank should not be less than an amount equal to ten percent (10.0%) of its risk assets.  As 
of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Bank is in compliance with the capital adequacy ratio 
requirement of the BSP.  The Bank’s capital to risk assets ratio for combined credit, market 
and operational risk stood at 17.55% and  22.08% as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, 
respectively.
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Shown below are the Bank’s minimum capital-to-risk assets ratio as reported to the BSP as of 
December 31, 2009 and 2008.

2009 2008

Tier 1 capital P 3,836,850,985 P 3,717,025,230
Tier 2 capital 33,346,538 22,838,528,020
Gross qualifying capital 3,870,197,523 3,739,863,768
Less:  Required reductions 24,966,336 30,329,417

Total qualifying capital P 3,845,231,187 P 3,709,534,351

Risk weighted assets P 21,914,435,122 P 16,797,949,195

Tier 1 capital ratio 17.40% 21.95%
Tier 2 capital ratio 0.15% 0.14%

Risk-based capital adequacy ratio 17.55% 22.08%

Further, under an existing BSP circular, commercial banks must meet a minimum capital 
threshold amounting to P2.4 billion.  As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Bank has 
satisfactorily complied with this externally imposed capitalization requirement.

There have been no material changes in the Bank’s management of capital during the 
period.  

2.16.2 Capital Allocation

The allocation of capital between specific operations and activities is, to a large extent driven 
by optimization of the return achieved on the capital allocated.  The amount of capital 
allocated to each operation or activity is based primarily upon the regulatory capital, but 
in some cases the regulatory requirements do not reflect fully the varying degree of risk 
associated with difference activities.  In such cases the capital requirements may be flexed 
to reflect differing risk profiles subject to the overall level of capital to support a particular 
operation or activity not falling below the minimum required for regulatory purposes.  The 
process of allocating capital to specific operations and activities is undertaken independently 
of those responsible of the operation and is subject to review by the ALCO.

Although maximization of the return on risk-adjusted capital is the principal basis used in 
determining how capital is allocated within the Bank to particular operations or activities, it 
is not the sole basis used for decision making.  Synergies with other operations and activities, 
the availability of management and other resources, and the fit of the activity with the Bank’s 
longer term strategic objectives are also taken into account.  The Bank’s policies in respect of 
capital management and allocation are reviewed regularly by the Board.

BD
O

 PR
IVAT

E BAN
K

 AN
N

U
AL R

EPO
RT

 2009  



62

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

The Bank’s financial statements prepared in accordance with FRSP for banks require management to 
make judgments and estimates that affect amounts reported in the financial statements and related notes.  
Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under circumstances.  Actual 
results may likely differ from these estimates and the differences could be significant.

3.1 Critical Management Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies

  In the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgments, apart from those involving estimation, which have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognized in the financial statements:

 (a) Held-to-maturity investments

The Bank follows the guidance of PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, in classifying non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments and fixed maturity as held-to-maturity.  This classification requires significant 
judgment.  In making this judgment, the Bank considers its intention and ability to hold such 
investments to maturity.  If the Bank fails to keep these investments at maturity (other than 
for the allowed specific circumstances, for example, selling an insignificant amount close to 
maturity), it will be required to reclassify the entire class to available-for-sale securities.  The 
investments would therefore be measured at fair value and not at amortized cost.  However, 
the tainting provision will not apply if the sales or reclassifications of held-to-maturity 
investments are so close to maturity or the financial asset’s call date that changes in the 
market rate of interest would not have a significant effect on the financial asset’s fair value; 
occur after the Bank has collected substantially all of the financial asset’s original principal 
through scheduled payments or prepayments; or are attributable to an isolated event that 
is beyond the control of the Bank, is nonrecurring and could not have been reasonably 
anticipated by the Bank.  If the entire class of held-to-maturity investments is tainted, the 
fair value would increase by P452.2 million in 2009 and decrease by P119.0 million in 2008, 
with a corresponding entry in the Fair Value Gain (Losses) on Available-for-sale Securities 
account in the statement of changes in equity (see Note 7).

 (b) Impairment of available-for sale financial assets

The Bank follows the guidance of PAS 39 in determining when an investment is permanently 
impaired.  This determination requires significant judgment.  In making this judgment, 
the Bank evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent to which the fair value 
of an investment is less than its cost; and the financial health of and near-term business 
outlook for the investee, including factors such as industry and sector performance, changes 
in technology and operational and financing cash flow.

If the assumptions made regarding the duration and extent to which the fair value is less than 
its cost will not hold, the Bank would incur an additional loss of P44.5 million and P431.9 
million in its 2009 and 2008 financial statements, respectively, representing the transfer of 
the total revaluation reserve to the statements of income.
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In 2009 and 2008, the Bank incurred actual impairment losses on available-for-sale securities 
amounting to P142.5 million and P83.5 million, respectively, related to the Bank’s investment 
in CDO (see Note 6.1). 

 (c) Operating leases

The Bank has entered into various lease agreements as a lessee.  Critical judgment was exercised 
by management to distinguish each lease agreement as either an operating or finance lease 
by looking at the transfer or retention of significant risk and rewards of ownership of the 
properties covered by the agreements. 

Rent expense charged to operations amounted toP26.5 million in 2009 and P23.5 million 
in 2008 (see Note 22).

 (d)  Provisions and contingencies

Judgment is exercised by management to distinguish between provisions and contingencies.  
Policies on recognition and disclosure of provision and disclosure of contingencies are 
discussed in Note 2.5 and relevant disclosures are presented in Note 22.

3.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

  The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of resources and liabilities within the next financial year:

 a)  Impairment losses on financial assets (loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments 
and available-for-sale securities)

 The Bank reviews its loan and held-to-maturity investments portfolios to assess impairment 
at least on a quarterly basis.  In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded 
in the statement of income, the Bank makes judgments as to whether there is any observable 
data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from the 
portfolio before the decrease can be identified with an individual item in that portfolio. This 
evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the 
payment status of borrowers or issuers in a group, or national or local economic conditions 
that correlate with defaults on assets in the group.  Management uses estimates based on 
historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence 
of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows.  The 
methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future 
cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual 
loss experience.
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   The Bank carries certain financial assets at fair value, which requires the extensive use of 
accounting estimates and judgment.  Significant components of fair value measurement were 
determined using verifiable objective evidence such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates 
and volatility rates.  However, the amount of changes in fair value would differ if the Bank 
utilized different valuation methods and assumptions.  Any change in fair value of these 
financial resources and liabilities would affect profit or loss and equity.

   Details of impairment losses recognized by the Bank on its financial assets are presented 
below.

Notes 2009 2008

Available-for-sale securities 6 P 142,543,155 P 83,500,000
Loans and receivables 8 64,680,000 -

P 207,223,155 P 83,500,000

 (b) Fair value of financial resources and liabilities

The following tables summarize the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial 
resources and liabilities not presented on the Bank’s statement of financial position at their 
fair value.  

2009
Cost Fair Value

Financial Assets
Due from BSP P 1,690,101,529 P 1,690,101,529
Due from other banks 1,753,149,328 1,753,149,328
Available-for-sale securities – at cost 5,500,100 5,500,100
Held-to-maturity investments 8,688,992,308 9,141,227,941 
Loans and other receivables
   Receivable from customers 3,308,673,517 3,308,673,517
   Unquoted debt securities 4,617,747,938 4,595,268,087
   Other receivables 6,855,810 6,855,810

Financial Liabilities
Deposit liabilities 20,045,179,053 19,784,109,825
Bills payable 4,000,897,192 4,000,897,192
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2008
Cost Fair Value

Financial Assets
Due from BSP P 2,728,883,901 P 2,728,883,901
Due from other banks 1,962,188,243 1,962,188,243
Available-for-sale securities – at cost 5,500,100 5,500,100
Held-to-maturity investments 8,804,014,579 8,684,543,430 
Loans and other receivables
   Receivable from customers 2,207,506,758 2,207,506,758
   Unquoted debt securities 4,762,163,871 4,319,623,441
   Other receivables 4,269,529 4,269,529

Financial Liabilities
Deposit liabilities 26,511,592,740 24,442,730,129
Bills payable 5,564,787,566 5,564,787,566

(i) Due from other Banks and BSP

  Due from BSP pertains to deposits made by the Bank to BSP for clearing and reserve 
requirements.  Due from other banks includes interbank placements and items in the 
course of collection.  The fair value of floating rate placements and overnight deposits 
is their carrying amount.  The estimated fair value of fixed interest bearing deposits 
is based on discounted cash flows using prevailing money-market interest rates for 
debts with similar credit risk and remaining maturity, which for short term deposits 
approximates the nominal value. 

(ii) Available-for-sale securities

  The fair value of available-for-sale securities is determined by direct reference to 
published price quoted in an active market for traded securities.  On the other hand, 
non-quoted available-for-sale securities are carried at cost because the fair value cannot 
be reliably determined either by reference to similar financial instruments or through 
valuation technique.  

(iii) Held-to-maturity investments

  Fair value for held-to-maturity assets is based on market prices.  Where this information 
is not available, fair value has been estimated using quoted market prices for securities 
with similar credit, maturity and yield characteristics or through valuation techniques 
using discounted cash flow analysis. 
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(iv)  Loans and other receivables

  Loans and other receivables are presented net of provisions for impairment, if any.  
The estimated fair value of loans and receivables represents the discounted amount of 
estimated future cash flows expected to be received.  Expected cash flows are discounted 
at current market rates to determine fair value. 

(v) Deposits and borrowings

  The estimated fair value of demand deposits with no stated maturity, which includes 
non-interest-bearing deposits, is the amount repayable on demand.  The estimated fair 
value of long-term negotiable certificates of deposits and other borrowings without 
quoted market price is based on discounted cash flows using interest rates for new debts 
with similar remaining maturity. 

For financial instruments that are liquid or which have relatively short-term maturities (less 
than 3 months), the Bank assumes that the carrying amounts approximate their fair value.  
This applies to due from BSP and other banks, securities purchased under reverse repurchase 
agreements, demand deposits and short-term time deposits.  This assumption also applies 
to floating rate financial instruments (e.g. receivable from customers, deposit liabilities, bills 
payable) with repricing frequencies of every three months or less.

The discount rates used in estimating the fair values of unquoted debt instruments are as 
follow: 

2009 2008

Fixed rate 4.9% - 11.8% 3.7% - 20.0%
Floating rate 0.4% - 5.2% 0.2% - 10.0%

The Bank also adopted the amendments to PFRS 7, Improving Disclosures about Financial 
Instruments, effective January 1, 2009.  These amendments require the Bank to present 
certain information about financial instruments measured at fair value in the statement of 
financial position.  In the first year of application, comparative information need not be 
presented for the disclosures required by the amendment.  

In accordance with this amendment, financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in 
the statement of financial position are categorized in accordance with the fair value hierarchy.  
This hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities into three levels based on the significance 
of inputs used in measuring the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities.  The fair value 
hierarchy has the following levels:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

•	 Level	1:	quoted	prices	(unadjusted)	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities;
•	 Level	2:		inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	included	within	Level	1	that	are	observable	for	

the resource or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from 
prices); and

•	 Level	3:		inputs	for	the	asset	or	liability	that	are	not	based	on	observable	market	data	
(unobservable inputs). 

The level within which the financial asset or liability is classified is determined based on the 
lowest level of significant input to the fair value measurement.

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial position 
are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

2009 2008

Quoted
Market Price

Valuation
Technique
(Market

Observable)
Quoted

Market Price

Valuation
Technique
(Market

Observable)

Financial assets at fair value
   through profit or loss
   Derivatives P - P 1,605,063,120 P - P 1,345,260,684
   Government securities 274,898,328 - 215,554,326 6,683,494

Available-for-sale securities
   Government securities 2,663,897,275 348,467,446 1,789,607,997 9,869,381
   Private debt securities 528,871,522 153,847,085 565,464,841 -
   Equity securities 155,000 - 155,000 -

P 3,467,822,125 P 2,107,377,651 P 2,570,782,164 P 1,361,813,559

Derivative financial liabilities P - P 1,392,870,623 P                          - P 1,101,071,701

There are no financial instruments valued using non-observable market inputs in 2009 and 
2008.

 (c) Fair Value of Derivatives  

The fair values of derivative financial instruments that are not quoted in an active market are 
determined through valuation techniques using the net present value computation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

Valuation techniques are used to determine fair values which are validated and periodically 
reviewed.  To the extent practicable, models use observable data, however, areas such as credit 
risk (both own and counterparty), volatilities and correlations require management to make 
estimates.  Changes in assumptions could affect reported fair value of financial instruments.  
The Bank uses judgment to select a variety of methods and make assumptions that are mainly 
based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period.  

 (d) Useful Lives of Bank Premises, Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment 

The Bank estimates the useful lives of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment based 
on the period over which the assets are expected to be available for use.  The estimated 
useful lives of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment are reviewed periodically 
and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, 
technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the assets.  The 
carrying amounts of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment are analyzed in Note 
9.  Actual results, however, may vary due to changes in estimates brought about by changes 
in factors mentioned above.  There is no change in estimated useful lives of bank premises, 
furniture, fixtures and equipment during the year.

 (e) Realizable Amount of Deferred Tax Assets

The Bank reviews its deferred tax assets at the end of each reporting period and reduces the 
carrying amount to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will 
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.

The carrying value of deferred tax assets which management assessed to be fully utilized as of 
December 31, 2009 and 2008 is disclosed in Notes 10 and 20.

 (f ) Impairment of Non-financial Assets

Except for intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, FRSP for banks requires that an 
impairment review be performed when certain impairment indicators are present.  The Bank’s 
policy on estimating the impairment of non-financial assets is discussed in detail in Note 2.9.  
Though management believes that the assumptions used in the estimation of fair values 
reflected in the financial statements are appropriate and reasonable, significant changes in 
these assumptions may materially affect the assessment of recoverable values and any resulting 
impairment loss could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations.

No impairment losses on non-financial assets were recognized in 2009 and 2008.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

 (g) Retirement Benefits and Other Retirement Benefits

The determination of the Bank’s obligation and cost of pension and other retirement benefits 
is dependent on the selection of certain assumptions used by actuaries in calculating such 
amounts.  Those assumptions are described in Note 19 and include, among others, discount 
rates, expected return on plan assets and salary increase rates.  In accordance with PFRS, 
actual results that differ from the assumptions are accumulated and amortized over future 
periods and therefore, generally affect the recognized expense and recorded obligation in 
such future periods.

The defined benefit asset (liability) and net unrecognized actuarial losses amounted to 
(P25,088,091) and P46,801,251 respectively, in 2009 and P6,349,628 and P45,603,328 
respectively, in 2008 (see Note 19).

4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

4.l Due from BSP

 This account is composed of the following:

2009 2008

Mandatory reserves P 943,044,944 P 1,472,935,000
Other than mandatory reserves 747,056,585 1,255,948,901

P 1,690,101,529 P 2,728,883,901

Mandatory reserves represent the balance of the deposit account maintained with the BSP to 
meet reserve requirements and to serve as clearing account for interbank claims.  Due from BSP 
bears annual interest rates of 4.0% in 2009 and 5.0% in 2008, except for the amounts within the 
required reserve as determined by BSP.  Total interest income earned amounted to P43,509,699 
and P21,826,802 in 2009 and 2008, respectively, and is shown under Interest income on Due from 
Banks in the statements of income.

Cash and balances with the BSP are included in cash and cash equivalents for cash flow statement 
purposes.

Under Section 254 of the Manual of Regulations for Banks (MORB), a bank is required to maintain 
at least 25 percent of its reserve requirements in the form of deposits with the BSP as among the 
allowable instruments for reserve cover.  Section 254.1 of the MORB further provides that such 
deposit account with the BSP is not considered as a regular current account as BSP checks for 
drawings against such deposits shall be limited to (a) settlement of obligations with the BSP, and (b) 
withdrawals to meet cash requirements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

4.2 Due from Other Banks

 The balance of this account represents regular deposits with the following:

Note 2009 2008

Local banks 21 P 91,971,217 P 169,903,998
Foreign banks 1,661,178,111 1,792,284,245

P 1,753,149,328 P 1,962,188,243

  These deposits earned interest at rates ranging from 0.2% to 10% per annum, both in 2009 and 
2008.

 A breakdown of this account by currency follow:

2009 2008

U.S. dollar P 1,721,127,267 P 1,943,771,527
Peso 16,778,479 11,340,095
Other foreign currencies 15,243,582 7,076,621

P 1,753,149,328 P 1,962,188,243

5. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

This account is composed of the following:

Notes 2009 2008

Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements P 3,723,992,800 P 12,122,841,867
Derivatives 13, 21 1,605,063,120 1,345,260,684  
Government securities 274,898,328 222,237,820

Aggregate market value P 5,603,954,248 P 13,690,340,371

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, except derivatives, consist of various treasury bills and 
other securities issued by the government and other private corporations that earn interest at 5.5% to 
10.75% per annum in 2009 and 6.5% to 10.9% per annum in 2008.

Except for derivatives and securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements, the amounts 
presented have been determined directly by reference to published price quoted in an active market.  The 
fair value of derivative financial assets is determined through valuation techniques using net present value 
computation. For CDS embedded in CLNs linked to ROPs, the Bank reclassified these financial assets 
to loans and receivables together with the host contract without bifurcating the embedded derivative (see 
Notes 6.2, 8 and 13).  
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

The fair value of securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements is not individually determined 
as the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value since these securities have short-term 
maturities.

The Bank recognized net trading gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss amounting 
to P75.0 million in and P 45.8 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively, which were included as part of 
Trading and Securities Gain in the statements of income.

The total interest earned on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss amounted to P215,509,834 
in 2009 and P311,197,599 in 2008.

6. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES

This account is composed of the following:

2009 2008

Debt securities
   Government securities P 3,012,364,721 P 1,799,477,378
   Other debt securities 682,718,607 565,464,841
Equity securities
   Quoted 155,000 155,000
   Not quoted 5,500,100 5,500,100

Aggregate market value P 3,700,738,428 P 2,370,597,319

As to currency, the account is composed of the following:

2009 2008

Peso P 1,053,999,814 P 493,162,748
Foreign currency 2,646,738,614 1,877,434,571

P 3,700,738,428 P 2,370,597,319

This account is composed of the following:

Changes in the Bank’s holdings of available-for-sale securities are summarized below:

2009 2008

Balance at beginning of year P 2,370,597,319 P 5,755,300,681
Additions 2,060,086,796 6,461,104,354
Fair value gains (losses) 237,671,203 ( 444,377,846)
Disposals ( 935,642,352) ( 2,527,328,768)
Reclassification - ( 7,375,291,773)
Foreign currency revaluation ( 31,974,538) 501,190,671

Balance at end of year P 3,700,738,428 P 2,370,597,319
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

Debt securities earn interest at 3.05% to 16.50% per annum in 2009 and 3.63% to 11.55% per annum 
in 2008.

Other debt securities include collateralized debt obligation (CDO) and other private securities.

Effective interest rates range from 3.4% to 9.9% and 2.2% to 7.8% for peso denominated and foreign 
currency AFS investments, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2009.   Effective interest rates 
range from 5.2% to 7.1% and 4.0% to 7.0% for peso denominated and foreign currency AFS investments, 
respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2008.  

In prior years, other debt securities include the host contract of CLNs while the embedded derivatives 
were bifurcated and presented separately as part of FVPL financial assets (see Note 13).  In 2008, all CLNs 
linked to ROP bonds were reclassified to loans and receivables together with the host contract without 
bifurcating the embedded derivatives (see Notes 6.2 and 13). 

Total interest earned on available-for-sale securities amounted to P189,216,311 in 2009 and P548,017,461 
in 2008.  Net gains (losses) on the disposal of available-for-sale financial assets amounted to P198.5 million 
and (P38.0 million) in 2009 and 2008, respectively, and is included as part of Trading and Securities Gain 
– net in the statements of income.

6.1 Collateralized Debt Obligation

  The Bank has an investment in a CDO with principal amount (face value) of US$5,000,000.  
Details of the investment in CDO are presented below.

2009 2008
In USD In Php In USD In Php

Book value $ 4,781,550 P 220,907,612 $ 4,824,200 P 229,245,966
Market value 25,000 1,155,000 25,000 1,188,000
Unrealized fair value losses - - 3,042,045 144,557,966
Accumulated impairment losses 4,781,550 219,752,612 1,757,155 83,500,000

  In 2009, the Bank provided full allowance for impairment losses on the CDO due to the significant 
and prolonged decline in the fair value of the instrument and in view of the tumultuous market that 
negatively affect the value of the financial asset.

6.2 Reclassification of AFS to UDSCL

  In 2008, relative to the amendments to PAS 39 and guidelines from BSP Circular 628, the Bank 
reclassified certain AFS to HTM and UDSCL.  The Bank identified the following financial assets that 
would have met the definition of loans and receivable for which at August 29, 2008, the Bank had the 
intention and ability to hold them for the foreseeable future or until maturity (see Notes 7 and 8).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

Presented below is the analysis of the fair value of the financial assets reclassified from AFS to 
UDSCL and the impact to profit or loss and equity had the Bank not made the reclassification in 
2008.

At Reclassification Date (August 29, 2008)
Carrying/
Fair Value

Unrealized G/L
in Equity

Effective
Interest Range

Estimated
Cash Flows

Government securities P 1,467,912,454 P 33,425,901 6.66% P 1,615,842,422
Credit linked notes 2,841,909,223 (36,586,301) 4.7% - 11.4% 3,863,783,317

P 4,309,821,667 (P 3,160,400) P 5,479,625,739

  Total value of embedded derivative reclassified as part of UDSCL amounted to P113,628,498 as of 
December 31, 2008.  

At December 31, 2009

Carrying 3

Amount Fair Value

Fair Value Gain
Recognized in P&L

Had Investments
Not Reclassified 

Fair Value Gain
Recognized in 

Equity Had 
Investments

Not reclassified

Government securities P 1,399,825,946 P 1,416,974,841 P - P 20,063,420
Credit linked notes 2 3,115,200,374 3,186,937,227 379,115,804 164,342,115

P 4,515,026,320 P 4,603,912,068 P 379,115,804 P 184,405,535

At December 31, 2008

Carrying 1

Amount Fair Value

Fair Value Loss
Recognized in P&L

Had Investments
Not Reclassified 

Fair Value Loss
Recognized in Equity

Had Investments
 Not reclassified

Government securities P 1,507,683,867 P 1,504,769,342 P - (P 2,914,525)
Credit linked notes 2 3,187,211,226 2,814,854,099 ( 290,484,919) ( 72,871,578)

P 4,694,895,093 P 4,319,623,441 (P 290,484,919) (P 75,786,103)

1  The carrying amount as of December 31, 2008 includes the translation of foreign currency denominated financial 
assets, net of any accrued  interests.

2  Carrying amount and fair value include a top-up payment made after reclassification date amounting to US$5.0 
million.

3  Carrying amount and fair value of credit-linked notes is gross of allowance for impairment losses amounting to  
P64,680,000

  Portion of net fair value gain in equity amortized during the year amounted to P7,711,106 in 2009 
and P863,400 in 2008.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

6.3 Reclassification of AFS to HTM

On August 29, 2008, the Bank reclassified government securities with carrying value and unrealized 
fair value losses amounting to P3,065,470,096 and P56,425,024, respectively, to held-to-maturity 
investments (see Note 7).  

The estimated amount of cash flows the Bank expects to recover from these securities as of the date 
of reclassification amounted to P3,989,430,404 with annual effective interest rates ranging from 
6.15% to 7.17%.

Presented below is the analysis of the fair value of the financial assets reclassified from AFS to HTM 
and the impact to equity had the Bank not made the reclassification in 2008.

2009 2008

Fair value P 3,211,018,087 P 3,065,470,096
Book value 3,005,751,320 2,919,770,292

Fair value gain recognized in equity had investments
   not been reclassified P 205,266,767 P 145,699,804

Portion of fair value loss in comprehensive income amortized during the year amounted to 
P9,271,718 and P739,993 in 2009 and 2008, respectively.

7. HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS 

This account is composed of the following:

2009 2008

Government securities P 8,315,576,678 P 8,420,354,239
Other debt securities 373,415,630 383,660,340

P 8,688,992,308 P 8,804,014,579

The maturity profile of these investments is set out in the following table:

2009 2008

Within one year P 896,565,845 P 651,960,638
Beyond one year, within five years 5,041,937,759 4,359,112,320
More than five years 2,750,488,704 3,792,941,621

P 8,688,992,308 P 8,804,014,579
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

As to currency, the account is composed of the following:

2009 2008

Peso P 3,057,099,557 P 4,909,377,943
Foreign currency 5,631,892,751 3,894,636,636

P 8,688,992,308 P 8,804,014,579

Changes in the Bank’s holdings of held-to-maturity investments are summarized below:

Note 2009 2008

Balance at beginning of year P 8,804,014,579 P 5,326,120,743
Additions 714,706,993 373,744,932
Reclassifications 6.3 - 3,065,470,096
Maturities ( 637,517,823) ( 533,107,471)
Foreign currency revaluation ( 192,211,441) 571,786,279

Balance at end of year P 8,688,992,308 P 8,804,014,579

Held-to-maturity investments earn interest at rates ranging from 1.36% to 18% per annum in 2009 and 
5.15% to 12.00% per annum in 2008.

In 2006, the Bureau of Treasury (BTr) tendered an exchange offer to the holders of certain maturing 
government securities to exchange these transactions into new Benchmark Bonds.  In relation to the 
exchange offer of the BTr, the SEC and BSP issued their respective circulars which allow the exchange 
transaction to be exempted from the tainting provision of PAS 39, provided that the participating banks 
chose to retain the held-to-maturity classification of the Benchmark Bonds received.

The BSP Circular further requires that the difference between the fair value of the Benchmark Bonds and 
the carrying amount of the maturing government securities shall not be recognized as gains or losses in the 
statement of income but shall be amortized over the life of the Benchmark Bonds.  

On September 4, 2006, the Bank participated in the exchange offer of the BTr by exchanging P328,247,292 
in held-to-maturity government securities.  The fair value of the Benchmark Bonds received amounted 
to P351,717,874, resulting in a gain of P23,471,582.  In compliance with the SEC and BSP, the Bank 
deferred the recognition of the gain and amortized it over the life of the Benchmark Bonds.  Total amount 
of gain amortized amounted to P2,346,415 in 2009 and 2008, and is shown as part of Trading and 
Securities Gain – net in the statements of income.  The deferred gain amounting to P15,659,912 and 
P18,006,327 in 2009 and 2008, respectively, is presented as part of Accrued Taxes and Other Liabilities in 
the statements of financial position (see Note 14).

The total interest earned on held-to-maturity investments amounted to P538,031,442 in 2009 and 
P437,303,914 in 2008.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

8. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

Loans and receivables consist of the following:

Notes 2009 2008

Receivables from customers:
   Individual 21
      Consumer P 19,386,833 P 21,061,181
      Commercial 83,881,472 45,183,577

103,268,305 66,244,758
   Corporate
      Commercial 3,205,405,212 2,141,262,000

3,308,673,517 2,207,506,758

Unquoted debt securities 6.2 4,617,747,938 4,762,163,871
Allowance for impairment losses 8.2 ( 64,680,000) -

4,553,067,938 4,762,163,871

Other receivables 21 6,855,810 4,269,529

P 7,868,597,265 P 6,973,940,158

The maturity profile of the Bank’s loans and other receivables follows:

2009 2008

Within one year P 4,736,278,177 P 1,133,478,894
Beyond one year, within five years 13,139,790 4,985,394,666
More than five years 3,119,179,298 855,066,598

P 7,868,597,265 P 6,973,940,158

As to security, loans and other receivables are classified into:

2009 2008

Secured: 
   Real estate mortgage P 9,511,448 P 8,838,977
   Chattel mortgage 4,193,934 4,299,064
   Others 83,881,471 53,472,000
Unsecured 7,771,010,412 6,907,330,117

P 7,868,597,265 P 6,973,940,158
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

8.1 Interest Income on Loans and Receivables

This account consists of:

2009 2008

Receivable from customers P 247,035,059 P 109,031,829
Unquoted debt securities 284,878,362 42,673,158
Others 1,682,021 1,559,810

P 533,595,442 P 153,264,797

Unquoted debt instrument bears effective interest rate ranging from 2.1% to 11.1% in 2009 while in 
2008, effective interest rates range from 3.3% to 11.8%.

8.2 Impairment Loss on Unquoted debt securities

Unquoted debt securities represents corporate and government bonds which were reclassified from 
AFS securities to loans and receivables in accordance with the Bank’s adoption of the amendments 
to PAS 39 and guidelines set out by BSP Circular 628 (see Note 6.2).  

In 2009, the Bank has assessed one of its unquoted debt security as impaired after considering 
several factors that would result the Bank incurring such loss.  Impairment losses recognized in 
2009 amounted to P64,680,000. 

8.2.1  Reclassification of CLNs

In 2008, pursuant to the amendments to PAS 39, the BSP issued Circular No. 628 – 
Guidelines on the Reclassification of Financial Assets Between Categories, in concurrence 
with the amendments to PAS 39, that allowed the reclassification of CLNs and other 
similar instruments that are linked to ROPs to held to maturity investments or to loans 
for prudential reporting purposes of banks without bifurcating the embedded derivative.  
Consequently, effective August 29, 2008, in accordance with such prudential reporting 
guidelines, the Bank reclassified the CLNs linked to ROPs amounting to P2,955,537,721 
and their derivative components amounting to P113,628,498 to loans and receivables.  Prior 
to the reclassification, the Bank presented the host contracts under AFS securities account 
and the derivative components of these CLNs under FVTPL account.

On February 2, 2009, the Commission En Banc of the SEC resolved the adoption of the 
prudential regulations of the BSP under Circular 628.  Thus, banks which reclassified their 
financial instruments in accordance with BSP Circular 628 and other applicable and existing 
accounting standards shall be considered compliant with FRSP for banks as their financial 
reporting framework.  The reconciliations of equity, statement of financial position and profit 
or loss reported under PFRS to FRSP are disclosed in Note 2.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

9. BANK PREMISES, FURNITURE, FIXTURES AND EQUIPMENT

The gross carrying amounts and accumulated depreciation and amortization at the beginning and end of 
2009 and 2008 are shown below.

Furniture, Fixtures 
and Equipment

Leasehold
Improvements Total

December 31, 2009
   Cost P 42,970,510 P 55,270,461 P 98,240,971
   Accumulated depreciation and amortization ( 32,252,359) ( 33,499,717) ( 65,752,076)

   Net carrying amount P 10,718,151 P 21,770,744 P 32,488,895

December 31, 2008
   Cost P 37,061,583 P 54,551,061 P 91,612,644
   Accumulated depreciation and amortization ( 26,124,164) ( 21,804,845) ( 47,929,009)

Net carrying amount P 10,937,419 P 32,746,216 P 43,683,635

January 1, 2008
   Cost P 28,880,998 P 38,210,475 P 67,091,473
   Accumulated depreciation and amortization ( 16,546,880) ( 12,765,259) ( 29,312,139)

   Net carrying amount P 12,334,118 P 25,445,216 P 37,779,334

A reconciliation of the carrying amounts of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment at the 
beginning and end of 2009 and 2008 is shown below.

Furniture, Fixtures 
and Equipment

Leasehold
Improvements Total

Balance at January 1, 2009, 
   net of accumulated depreciation and amortization P 10,937,419 P 32,746,216 P 43,683,635
Additions 5,925,680 719,400 6,645,080
Depreciation and amortization charges for the year ( 6,144,948) ( 11,694,872) ( 17,839,820)

Balance at December 31, 2009
   net of accumulated depreciation and amortization P 10,718,151 P 21,770,744 P 32,488,895

Balance at January 1, 2008, 
   net of accumulated depreciation and amortization P 12,334,118 P 25,445,217 P 37,779,335
Additions 1,634,591 16,266,728 17,901,319
Depreciation and amortization charges for the year ( 3,031,290) ( 8,965,729) ( 11,997,019)

Balance at December 31, 2008
   net of accumulated depreciation and amortization P 10,937,419 P 32,746,216 P 43,683,635

Total cost of fully depreciated assets, consisting of transportation equipment amounted to P1,360,000. 

The BSP requires that investments in bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment do not exceed 50% 
of the Bank’s unimpaired capital.  As of December 31, 2009, the Bank has satisfactorily complied with 
this requirement.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

10. OTHER RESOURCES

This account consists of:

Note 2009 2008

Accrued trust fees P 31,470,821 P 13,244,303
Deferred tax assets – net 20 27,046,622 24,829,884
Deferred charges 9,297,636 8,788,544
Prepaid expenses 5,326,447 5,842,254
Others 11,945,810 2,285,638

P 85,087,336 P 54,990,623

Deferred charges consist mainly of capitalized software costs that are amortized over 3 to 10 years.  
Amortization charges related to software costs amounted to P2,711,626 and P4,531,091 in 2009 and 2008, 
respectively, and are included as part of Depreciation and Amortization in the statements of income.

11. DEPOSIT LIABILITIES

The maturity profile of the Bank’s deposit liabilities follows:

2009 2008

Within one year P 11,467,529,440 P 17,496,341,230
Beyond one year up to five years 8,577,649,613 9,015,251,510

P 20,045,179,053 P 26,511,592,740

The classification of the Bank’s deposit liabilities as to currency follows:

2009 2008

Peso P 10,515,810,096 P 16,382,361,233
Foreign currency 9,529,368,957 10,129,231,507

P 20,045,179,053 P 26,511,592,740

Interest expense on deposit liabilities comprises of:

2009 2008

Time P 473,385,335 P 598,033,285
Demand 216,966,090 157,116,344

P 690,351,425 P 755,149,629

Interest rates on deposit liabilities ranged between 0.625% to 6.5% and 1.5% to 10%per annum in 2009 
and 2008, respectively, for time deposits.  While for demand deposits, interest rates ranged from 0.15% 
to 2.75% in 2009 and 2008.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

Under existing BSP regulations, non-FCDU deposit liabilities of the Bank are subject to liquidity reserve 
requirement equivalent to 11.0% and statutory reserve equivalent to 8.0%.  As of December 31, 2009 and 
2008, the Bank is in compliance with such regulations.

Management considers the carrying amount of the short-term deposit liabilities recognized in the 
statements of financial position to be a reasonable approximation of their fair value.  On the other hand, 
the fair value of the Bank’s outstanding long-term negotiable certificates of deposit (LTNCDs) and time 
deposits with maturities of more than one year is measured using discounted cash flow.  

On April 26, 2007, the Monetary Board of the BSP authorized the Bank to issue up to P5,000,000,000 
worth of fixed rate or zero coupon LTNCDs in one or more tranches.  The first tranche, consisting of 
P2,191,400,000 in zero coupon LTNCDs, was issued on June 18, 2007 and will mature on December 18, 
2012.  These LTNCDs are presented net of discount and capitalized transaction costs amounting to P11.4 
million and P14.2 million, in 2009 and 2008, respectively, as part of the Time Deposit Liabilities account 
in the statements of financial position.

12. BILLS PAYABLE

Bills payable are due within one-year from the end of reporting periods.

Bills payable represents the Bank’s borrowings from other local banks and entities which bear interest 
rates ranging from 3.25% to 10.25% per annum in 2009 and 4.75% to 10.25% per annum in 2008.  
A portion of the bills payable pertains to securities under reverse repurchase agreements with the BSP 
which were sold, without recourse, to clients.  The outstanding balance of these securities amounted to 
P1,638,462,218 as of December 31, 2008 (nil in 2009).  

13. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Bank uses derivative instruments for both hedging and non-hedging purposes.  Currency forwards 
represent commitments to purchase foreign and domestic currency, including undelivered spot transactions.  
Currency and interest swaps are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for another.  Swaps result 
in an economic exchange of currencies or interest rates or a combination of all these.  No exchange of 
principal takes place, except for certain currency swaps.  The Bank’s credit risk represents the potential cost 
to replace the swap contracts if counterparties fail to perform their obligation.  

This risk is monitored on an ongoing basis with reference to the current fair value, a proportion of the 
notional amount of the contracts and the liquidity of the market.  To control the level of credit risk taken, 
the Bank assesses counterparties using the same techniques as for its lending activities.

The notional amounts of certain types of financial instruments provide a basis for comparison with 
instruments recognized in the statements of financial position but do not necessarily indicate the amounts 
of future cash flows involved or the current fair value of the instruments and, therefore, do not indicate 
the Bank’s exposure to credit or price risks.  The derivative instruments become favorable or unfavorable 
as a result of fluctuations in market interest rates, foreign exchange rates and other underlying relative to 
their terms.  The aggregate contractual or notional amount of derivative financial instruments on hand, the 
extent to which instruments are favorable or unfavorable, and thus the aggregate fair values of derivative 
financial assets and liabilities, can fluctuate significantly from time to time.  
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

The fair values of derivative instruments held are set out below.

Notional
Amount

Fair Values
Assets  Liabilities

December 31, 2009
Free-standing:
   Forward contracts
      Sell: USD/PHP P 26,422,491,673 P 763,711,874 P -
      Buy: USD/PHP 26,498,345,575 - 715,106,869
   Interest rate swaps 4,652,124,000 58,186,038 111,865,610
   Cross currency swaps 6,826,417,607 781,869,844 565,898,144
   Credit default swaps 818,300,000 1,295,364 -

P 65,217,678,855 P 1,605,063,120 P 1,392,870,623

Notional
Amount

Fair Values
Assets Liabilities

December 31, 2008
Free-standing:
   Forward contracts
      Sell: USD/PHP P 14,503,794,826 P 621,685,739 P -
      Buy: USD/PHP 14,584,052,440 - 492,340,932
   Interest rate swaps 4,795,022,400 178,754,886 202,040,309 
   Cross currency swaps 863,129,000 544,820,059 406,690,460
   Credit default swaps 818,300,000 - -

P 35,564,298,666 P 1,345,260,684 P 1,101,071,701

The fair value gains or losses recognized as net of Trading and Securities Gain – net account in the statements 
of income determined using a valuation technique amounted to P58,232,875 and P152,817,186  in 2009 
and 2008, respectively, representing changes in fair value of the derivative financial assets and liabilities of 
the Bank.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

14. ACCRUED TAXES AND OTHER LIABILITIES

The breakdown of this account follows:

Notes 2009 2008

Accrued expenses P 43,040,808 P 35,849,140
Accrued taxes 33,447,677 47,785,101
Retirement benefit liability 19 25,088,091 6,349,628
Deferred gain on bond exchange 7 15,659,912 18,006,327
Withholding taxes 13,999,095 15,646,676
Others 28,191,559 13,893,178

P 159,427,142 P 137,530,050

15. EQUITY

15.1 Capital Stock

Capital stock as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 consists of:

Shares Amount
2009 2008 2009 2008

Preferred shares – P1,000 par value
   Authorized – 1,250,000 shares
   Issued and outstanding 1,225,000 1,225,000 P 1,225,000,000 P 1,225,000,000

Common shares – P1,000 par value
   Authorized – 1,250,000 shares
   Issued and outstanding 940,000 940,000 P 940,000,000 P 940,000,000

As of December 31, 2009, the Bank has one stockholder owning 100 or more shares.

15.2 Preferred Shares

The following are the features of the Bank’s preferred stock:

a.  The Board may specify the terms, conditions, qualifications, restrictions and privileges of the 
preferred non-voting stock.  All preferred shares shall be of equal rank, preference, priority 
and shall be identical in all respects regardless of series.

b.  The holders of serial preferred stock shall be entitled to receive dividends, when, as and if 
declared by the Board out of funds legally available and not before any dividends on the 
common stock shall be paid or set apart for payments.

c.  The holders of the preferred shares shall not be entitled to vote at any meeting of the 
stockholders for the election of directors or for any other purpose or participate in any action 
taken by the Bank or its stockholders.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

15.3 Unrealized Fair Value Gains (Losses) on Available-for-sale Securities

 The reconciliation of the unrealized fair value gain (losses) on available-for-sale securities follows:

2009 2008

Balance at beginning of year (P 431,962,794) (P 70,961,541)
Unrealized fair value gain (loss) 239,081,203 ( 444,377,846)
Amortization of unrealized fair value losses ( 1,560,612) ( 123,407)
Transfer to profit or loss of impairment losses on CDO 142,543,155 83,500,000
Transfer to profit or loss of impairment losses on AFS
   previously reclassified to UDSCL 7,435,000 -

Balance at end of year (P 44,464,048) (P 431,962,794)

15.4 Surplus Free

On November 11, 2009, the Board approved the declaration of a cash dividend of P138.57 per 
share for the outstanding preferred and common shares or a total of P300,000,000, payable to 
stockholders on record as of October 31, 2009.  The cash dividend was approved by the BSP on 
December 15, 2009 and was paid in full on December 22, 2009.

15.5 Cumulative Translation Adjustment

Prior to 2009, the FCDU’s functional currency was the Philippine peso.  In 2008, in compliance 
with the requirements of BSP Circular No. 601 and PAS 21: The Effects of Changes in Foreign 
Exchange Rates, management formalized its determination of the FCDU’s functional currency.  
Based on management’s assessment, the FCDU’s functional currency is USD. The change in 
functional currency is accounted prospectively under the provisions of PAS 21. Foreign exchange 
difference credited to Cumulative Translation Adjustment account as of December 31, 2009 
amounted to P0.95 million.

16. SERVICE CHARGES, FEES AND COMMISSIONS

This account is composed of the following:

2009 2008

Trust fees P 128,296,756 P 58,681,611
Commissions 4,122,223 198,883
Selling agency fees 1,825,595 38,621,161
Others – net 4,438,222 ( 12,985,489)

P 138,682,796 P 84,516,166

Other service charges, fees and commissions in 2008 is presented net of credit default swap upfront fees 
paid by the Bank amounting to P21.1 million.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

17. THIRD PARTY INFORMATION

Third party information refers to service charges incurred for market data obtained from service providers 
Reuters, Prebon and Bloomberg (used in the Bank’s treasury operations).

18. OTHER EXPENSES

This account is composed of the following:

2009 2008

Supervision P 17,844,166 P 6,534,153
Advertising 15,744,733 9,386,890
Repairs and maintenance 10,158,643 7,870,395
Security, messengerial and janitorial services 9,218,545 7,832,481
Custodianship fees 8,778,343 5,661,668
Communication 6,310,801 4,725,400
Stationery and supplies 4,541,844 4,216,049
Transfer fees and charges 3,960,837 3,194,953
Fines, penalties and other charges 3,749,000 1,402,300
Miscellaneous 6,902,314 3,845,099

P 87,209,226 P 54,699,388

19. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The total expense recognized by the Bank for employee benefits is analyzed below.

2009 2008

Salaries and wages P 161,079,468 P 127,566,951
Pension – defined benefit plans 18,738,463 9,621,738
Social security and medical benefits 4,975,169 2,856,171
Others 755,548 894,320

P 185,548,648 P 140,939,180

The Bank maintains a tax-qualified, noncontributory retirement plan covering all regular full-time 
employees.  The plan is being administered by a trustee.  

The Bank obtained an updated actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 to ascertain the 
amount of retirement benefit cost and the balance of the defined benefit asset (obligation) as of that date 
in accordance with PAS 19, Employee Benefits.  Actuarial valuations are obtained regularly to update the 
retirement benefit costs and the amount of contributions.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follow:

2009 2008

Balance at beginning of year P 84,001,392 P 41,318,562
Interest cost 9,466,957 3,441,836
Current service cost 9,964,764 8,718,857
Benefits paid - (5,027,189)
Actuarial gains on obligation 9,905,881 35,549,326

Balance at end of year P 113,338,994 P 84,001,392

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follow:

2009 2008

Balance at beginning of year P 32,048,436 P  36,376,659
Expected returns on plan assets 2,243,391 2,709,045
Benefits paid - ( 5,027,189)
Actuarial gains (losses) 7,157,825 ( 2,010,079)

Balance at end of year P  41,449,652 P  32,048,436

The plan assets consists mainly of debt and equity securities and deposit in banks.

Actual return on plan assets amounted to P9,401,216 and P698,966 in 2009 and 2008, respectively.

The amounts of retirement benefit asset (obligation) recognized in the statements of financial position and 
presented as part of Accrued Taxes and Other Liabilities accounts, respectively, are determined as follows 
(see Notes 10 and 14):

2009 2008

Present value of obligation (P 113,338,994) (P 84,001,392)
Fair value of plan assets 41,449,652 32,048,436
Deficiency of plan assets ( 71,889,342) ( 51,952,956)
Unrecognized actuarial losses 46,801,251 45,603,328

(P 25,088,091) P 6,349,628
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December 31, 2009 And 2008

The amounts of retirement benefits recognized in the statements of income are as follows: 

2009 2008

Current service costs P 9,964,764 P 8,718,857
Interest costs 9,466,957 3,441,836
Expected return on plan assets ( 2,243,391) ( 2,709,045)
Net actuarial gain recognized during the year 1,550,133 170,090

P 18,738,463 P 9,621,738 

The movements in the unrecognized actuarial losses are as follows:

2009 2008

Balance at beginning of year P 45,603,328 P 8,214,013
Actuarial gains for the year – obligation 9,905,881 35,549,326
Actuarial (gain) loss for the year – plan assets ( 7,157,825) 2,010,079
Actuarial losses recognized during the year ( 1,550,133) ( 170,090)

P 46,801,251 P 45,603,328

For the determination of the retirement benefits, the following actuarial assumptions were used:

2009 2008

Discount rates 9.21% 11.3%
Expected rate of return on plan assets 5.0% 7.0%
Expected rate of salary increases 10.0% 10.0%

Presented below are the historical information related to the present value of the retirement benefit 
obligation, fair value of plan assets and excess or deficit in the plan (amounts in thousands) as well as 
experience adjustments arising on plan assets and liabilities.

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Present value of the obligation P 113,339 P 84,001 P 41,319 P 33,204 P 12,733
Fair value of the plan assets 41,450 32,048 36,377 32,951 20,333

Deficit (excess) in the plan P 71,889 P 51,953 P 4,942 P 253 (P 7,600)

Experience adjustments 
   arising on plan liabilities 9,905,881 P 51,671 (P 1,079) 9,039 *
Experience adjustments 
   arising on plan assets 7,158,825 ( 2,010) 10 - *

* Data not available.
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20. TAXES

The components of tax expense for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

2009 2008

Current tax expense:
   Final tax on income from FCDU at 10% P 6,398,877 P 2,570,936
   Minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) at 2% 8,596,393 -
   Final tax at 20% and 7.5% 72,943,834 82,923,028

87,939,104 85,493,964

Deferred tax income:
   Deferred tax relating to origination and reversal of 
      temporary differences ( 2,216,738) ( 13,689,040)

Tax expense reported in the statements of income P 85,722,366 P 71,804,924

Current taxes include corporate income tax and final taxes paid on income from FCDU and final 
withholding tax on gross interest income from debt securities and other deposit substitutes.

In accordance with Republic Act (RA) No. 9337 which amended certain sections of the National Internal 
Revenue Code of 1997, RCIT rate is reduced from 35% to 30% beginning January 1, 2009.  

Effective July 2009, RA No. 9504 was approved giving corporate taxpayers an option to claim itemized 
deduction or optional standard deduction (OSD) equivalent to 40% of gross income.  Once the option to 
use OSD is made, it shall be irrevocable for the taxable year for which the option was made.  In 2009, the 
Bank opted to continue claiming itemized deductions.

The Bank is also subject to percentage and other taxes which consist principally of gross receipts tax 
(GRT), and is presented as part of Taxes and Licenses in the statements of income.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

The reconciliation of tax on pretax income computed at the applicable statutory rates to tax expense 
attributable to continuing operations is as follows:

2009 2008

Tax on pretax income at 30% P 153,077,958 P 60,782,153
Adjustment for income subjected to lower tax rates ( 44,506,853) ( 93,054,534)
Tax effects of:
   Unrecognized net operating loss 
      carryover (NOLCO) and other temporary differences - 166,810,428
   Application of NOLCO 44,050,995 -
   Non-deductible interest and other expenses 41,270,406 62,959,053
   Unrecognized MCIT 8,596,393 -
   Income from FCDU ( 13,841,581) ( 51,176,938)
   Income exempted from income taxes ( 102,924,952) ( 74,515,238)

Tax expense reported in the statements of income P 85,722,366 P 71,804,924 

The net deferred tax assets as of December 31 related to the following:

Statements of financial position Statements of income
2009 2008 2009 2008

Deferred tax assets
   NOLCO P 20,428,887 P 64,250,000 (P 43,821,113) P 64,250,000
   Unamortized past service cost 655,735 862,810 (207,075) (             414,149)
   Unrealized foreign exchange losses 15,284,893 - 15,284,892 ( 2,739,755)
   Provision for impairment losses - 25,050,000 ( 25,050,000) 25,050,000
   Unrealized loss on trading securities - - ( 10,340,626) ( 6,106,396)

Deferred tax liabilities
   Unrealized gain on trading securities ( 9,322,893) ( 11,609,694)  12,627,427 ( 12,627,427)
   Unrealized foreign exchange gains - ( 53,723,232) 53,723,233 ( 53,723,233)

Deferred tax income P 2,216,738 P 13,689,040
Net deferred tax assets P 27,046,622 P 24,829,884

The Bank is subject to MCIT which is computed at 2% of gross income, as defined under tax regulations.  In 
2007, the Bank paid MCIT since the MCIT was higher than the regular corporate income tax (RCIT).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 And 2008

The amounts of NOLCO and MCIT as of the end of 2009 and 2008 for which the related deferred tax 
assets have not been recognized are shown below.

2009 2008
Amount Tax Effect Amount Tax Effect

NOLCO P 438,492,895 P 131,547,869 P 501,061,055 P 150,318,017
MCIT 12,586,382 12,586,382 6,109,563 6,109,563

P 451,079,277 P 144,134,251 P 507,170,618 P 156,427,580

The composition of and movements in the Bank’s NOLCO are as follows:

Year Amount
Applied in
Prior Years

Applied or Expired
in Current Year

Remaining 
Balance

Valid 
Until

2008 P 563,902,586 P - P - P 563,902,586 2011
2007 5,390,943 - 903,498 4,487,445 2010
2006 145,933,193 - 145,933,193 -

P 715,226,722 P - P 146,836,691 P 568,390,301

The composition of and movements in the Bank’s MCIT are as follows:

Year Amount
Applied in
Prior Years

Applied or Expired 
in Current Year

Remaining
Balance

Valid
Until

2009 P 8,596,393 P - P - P 8,596,393 2012
2007 3,989,989 - - 3,989,989 2010
2006 2,119,574 - 2,119,574 - 2009

P 14,705,956 P - P 2,119,574 P 12,586,382

21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

21.1 Nature of Related Party Transactions

The significant transactions conducted by the Bank with related parties in the normal course of 
business are described below:

a.  The Bank has loan transactions with its officers and employees.  The General Banking Act and 
BSP regulations provide that in the aggregate, loans to DOSRI generally should not exceed 
the Bank’s total capital funds or 25% of the Bank’s total portfolio, whichever is lower.  As of 
December 31, 2009 and 2008, total loans extended to DOSRI amounted to P18,348,684 
and P17,378,764, respectively (see Note 8).
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December 31, 2009 And 2008

          Relative to the DOSRI loans, the following additional information are also presented:

2009 2008

            Total outstanding DOSRI loans P 18,348,684 P 17,378,764
            Total past due DOSRI loans - -

            % to total loan portfolio 0.26% 0.79%
            % of unsecured DOSRI loans to total DOSRI loans 25.3% 24.41%
            % of past due DOSRI loans to total DOSRI loans - -

b.  In 2009 and 2008, the Bank entered into currency forward transactions with BDO Unibank.  
Details of these transactions are presented below (see Note 13).

2009
Derivative

Assets
Derivative
Liabilities

Notional
Amount

Buy:
   PHP/USD P 11,150,714 P 146,358,584 US$ 86,000,000

2008
Derivative

Assets
Derivative
Liabilities

Notional
Amount

Buy:
   PHP/USD P 209,050,796 P - US$ 50,000,000
Sell:
   USD/PHP - 216,604,735 70,026,250

c.  The Bank holds demand deposits from BDO Securities amounting to P85,515,212 and 
P25,679,730 as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, with annual interest rates 
ranging from 0.20% to 3.38% in 2009 and 2008.  

The Bank maintains deposits with BDO Unibank.  In 2009 and 2008, deposits in BDO 
Unibank amounted to P34,033,012 and P43,374,220, respectively, and are included as part 
of Due from Other Banks in the statements of financial position (see Note 4).  The interest 
rates on these deposits ranged from 0.25% to 2.00% per annum in 2009 and 2008.

d.  In November 2009, the Bank entered into a lease agreement with BDO Leasing and Finance, 
Inc. for the rental of office space for a monthly rental of P966,600. The lease commence on 
November 2009 and will end after one year, subject to renewal as agreed by the parties. Total 
rental expense and outstanding due pertaining to this transaction amounted to P1,993,200.
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December 31, 2009 And 2008

e.  In December 2007, the Bank’s Board approved the outsourcing of risk management functions 
to BDO Unibank through a Risk Management Service Agreement.  The arrangement will 
allow the Bank to tap the resources and expertise of BDO Unibank in the areas covered 
by the new agreement, specifically in the provision of back-up risk management personnel 
in case of contingencies, the preparation of risk reports, the provision of risk management 
policies and procedures, and the training of the Bank’s risk management personnel.

21.2 Key Management Personnel Compensation

The total salaries and short-term benefits received by key management personnel amounted to 
P89.3 million and P65.6 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively.

22. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The following are the significant commitments and contingencies involving the Bank:

a.  The Bank is a party to a lease agreement covering its office premises, the term of which will end on 
April 11, 2011.  Further, on November 2009, the Bank entered into a lease agreement with a related 
party for the lease of its new office which for a period of one year and is renewable upon agreement 
by the parties.   The future minimum rentals payable under this operating leases amounted to 
P81,520,841 and  P44,970,085 as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. 

Rent expense, which is shown as part of Occupancy in the statements of income, amounted to 
P26,454,248 and P23,510,547 in 2009 and 2008, respectively.

b.  In the normal course of its operations, the Bank has various outstanding commitments and 
contingent liabilities such as guarantees, commitments to extend credit, etc., which are not reflected 
in the accompanying financial statements.  The Bank recognizes in its books any losses and liabilities 
incurred in the course of its operations as soon as these become determinable and quantifiable.

As of December 31, 2009, the Bank’s management believes that losses, if any, from the above 
commitments and contingencies will not have a material effect on the Bank’s financial statements.
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December 31, 2009 And 2008

  The following is a summary of the Bank’s commitments and contingent accounts as of December 
31:

2009 2008

Trust department accounts P 66,735,497,376 P 27,158,760,314
Forward exchange bought 22,498,345,575 14,584,052,440
Forward exchange sold 26,422,491,673 14,503,794,826
Interest rate swap receivable 18,603,337,000 11,755,895,500
Interest rate swap payable 18,633,701,600 11,755,174,400
Spot exchange bought 46,200,000 404,050,000
Spot exchange sold 46,200,000 404,010,000
Loan commitments 28,612,000 1,600,000,000
Other contingent accounts 818,300,000 818,300,000

P 153,832,685,224 P 82,984,037,480

23. TRUST OPERATIONS

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the following securities and other properties held by the Bank in 
fiduciary or agency capacity (for a fee) for its customers are not included in the accompanying statements 
of financial position since these are not properties of the Bank:

2009 2008

Cash P 19,002,211,038 P 5,831,809,217
Investments 47,108,031,562 20,815,806,689
Real estate 617,281,447 504,978,600
Others 7,973,329 6,165,808

P 66,735,497,376 P 27,158,760,314

The trust operations of the Bank relate mainly to the activities of the wealth advisory and trust group 
which includes financial advisory, investment management, trust and other fiduciary activities authorized 
by the BSP.  Accordingly, securities and other properties held by the Bank in a fiduciary or agency capacity 
for clients and beneficiaries are not included in the accompanying statements of financial position since 
these are not resources of the Bank.

In compliance with the regulations that govern the Bank’s trust functions, government bonds (included as 
part of Held-to-maturity Investments) owned by the Bank with a total face value of P720.0 million and 
P254.0 million as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, are deposited with the BSP.
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24. ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

The Bank manages certain investments in special deposit accounts, debt securities, equity securities and 
other assets on behalf of its clients.  Some of these assets under management (AUM) are included on the 
financial statements as an asset or liability of the Bank, whereas the remainder are accounts held in trust 
or held for safekeeping for the Bank’s clients and have been excluded from the accompanying statements 
of financial position.

The composition of the Bank’s AUM as of December 31 is set out in the following table (amounts in 
millions):

2009 2008

On - Balance Sheet P 22,970 P 29,401
Off - Balance Sheet 81,647 42,504

P 104,617 P 71,905

The Bank earns fees in return for its investment facilitation services.  For the years ended December 31, 
2009 and 2008, the Bank recognized P128.3 million and P96.31 million, respectively, in AUM-related 
fees and other income (including trust fees), which are distributed among various accounts under Other 
Income account in the statements of income.

24. SELECTED FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The following are some of the financial performance indicators of the Bank:

2009 2008

Return on average equity
   Net income 11.89% 3.04%
   Average total capital accounts

Return on average resources
   Net income 1.29% 0.37%
   Average total resources

Net interest margin
   Net interest income 2.30% 1.70%
   Average interest-earning resources
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